STARWOOD REAL ESTATE INCOME TRUST, INC.
SUPPLEMENT NO. 15 DATED NOVEMBER 13, 2020
TO THE PROSPECTUSDATED APRIL 15, 2020
This prospectus supplement (“ Supplement”) is part of and should be read in conjunction with the prospectus of Starwood Real Estate
Income Trust, Inc., dated April 15, 2020 (as supplemented to date, the “ Prospectus”). Unless otherwise defined herein, capitalized
terms used in this Supplement shall have the same meanings as in the Prospectus. References herein to the “ Company,” “we,” “us,” or
“our” refer to Starwood Real Estate Income Trust, Inc. and its subsidiaries unless the context specifically requires otherwise.

The purposes of this Supplement are as follows:

. to provide an update to our October 2020 rent collections;

. to disclose the transaction price for each class of our common stock as of December 1, 2020;

. to disclose the calculation of our October 31, 2020 NAV per share for each class of our common stock;
. to provide an update on the status of our current public offering (the “ Offering”);

. to include our Quarterly Report on the Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2020; and

. to disclose changes to our management.

October 2020 Rent Collections Update

Rent collections remain strong, which has enabled usto provide investors with consistent, stable distributions. We have collected 97%
of October rents, which continues to demonstrate that COV1D-19 has had very limited impact on our rent collections.

December 1, 2020 Transaction Price

The transaction price for each share class of our common stock for subscriptions accepted as of December 1, 2020 (and repurchases as
of November 30, 2020) is asfollows:

Transaction Price

(per share)
Class S $ 21.38
ClassT $ 21.24
ClassD $ 21.27
Class| $ 21.32

The December 1, 2020 transaction price for each of our share classesis equal to such class' sNAV per share as of October 31, 2020. A
detailed presentation of the NAV per share is set forth below. No transactions or events have occurred since October 31, 2020 that
would have amaterial impact on our NAV per share. The purchase price of our common stock for each share class equals the
transaction price of such class, plus applicable upfront selling commissions and dealer manager fees.
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October 31, 2020 NAV Per Share

NAYV per shareis calculated in accordance with the valuation guidelines that have been approved by our board of directors. Our NAV
per share, which is updated as of the last calendar day of each month, is posted on our website at www.starwoodNAV.reit. Please refer
to “Net Asset Value Calculation and Valuation Guidelines” in the Prospectus for information on how our NAV is determined. The
Advisor is ultimately responsible for determining our NAV. All our property investments are appraised annually by third party
appraisal firmsin accordance with our valuation guidelines and such appraisals are reviewed by our independent val uation advisor.
We have included a breakdown of the components of total NAV and NAV per share for October 31, 2020 along with the immediately
preceding month.

Our total NAV presented in the following tables includes the NAV of our Class S, Class T, Class D, and Class | common
stockholders, aswell as partnership interests of the Operating Partnership held by parties other than the Company. The following table
provides a breakdown of the major components of our NAV as of October 31, 2020 ($ and shares in thousands):

Components of NAV October 31, 2020
Investmentsin real properties $ 4,714,606
Investmentsin real estate-related securities 219,137
Cash and cash equivalents 35,587
Restricted cash 124,949
Other assets 26,643
Debt obligations (3,171,552)
Subscriptions received in advance (80,709)
Other liabilities (102,899)
Performance participation accrual (2,921)
Management fee payable (1,834)
Accrued stockholder servicing fees® (692)
Minority interest (15,070)
Net asset value $ 1,745,245
Number of outstanding shares 81,757

(1)  Stockholder servicing fees only apply to Class S, Class T and Class D shares. For purposes of NAV we recognize the stockholder servicing fee
as areduction of NAV on amonthly basis as such feeis paid. Under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
(“GAAP"), we accrue the full cost of the stockholder servicing fee as an offering cost at thetimewe sell Class S, Class T and Class D shares.
As of October 31, 2020, we have accrued under GAAP $67.3 million of stockholder servicing fees payable to the Dealer Manager related to
theClass S, Class T and Class D shares sold.

The following table provides a breakdown of our total NAV and NAV per share by share class as of October 31, 2020:

Third-party
Operating
Class S ClassT ClassD Class| Partner ship
NAV Per Share Shares Shares Shares Shares Units® Total
Net asset value $906,188,721 $49,352,368 $55,115,319 $724,341,943 $10,246,724 $1,745,245,075
Number of outstanding shares 42,392,441 2,323,360 2,590,832 33,969,388 480,539 81,756,560

NAYV per share as of October 31, 2020 $ 2138 $ 2124 $ 2127 $ 21.32 $ 21.32

(1) Includes the partnership interests of the Operating Partnership held by the Special Limited Partner.

Set forth below are the weighted averages of the key assumptionsin the discounted cash flow methodology used in the October 31,
2020 valuations, based on property types.

Exit
Discount Capitalization
Property Type Rate Rate
Multifamily 6.5% 5.2%
Hotel 9.2% 7.8%
Office 7.2% 6.0%
Industrial 6.7% 6.2%

Medical office 6.6% 5.7%



These assumptions are determined by the Advisor, and reviewed by our independent valuation advisor. A change in these assumptions
would impact the calculation of the value of our property investments. For example, assuming all other factors remain unchanged, the
changes listed below would result in the following effects on our investment values:

Multifamily Hotel Office Industrial Medical office
Hypothetical Investment Investment I nvestment Investment I nvestment
Input Change Values Values Values Values Values
Discount Rate 0.25% decrease +1.9% +1.8% +1.9% +1.9% +1.9%
(weighted average) 0.25% increase (1.9% (1.8)% (2.0)% (1.9% (2.1)%
Exit Capitalization Rate 0.25% decrease +3.1% +1.7% +2.9% +2.6% +3.1%
(weighted average) 0.25% increase (2.8)% (1.6)% (2.8)% (2.4)% (3.00%

The following table provides a breakdown of the major components of our NAV as of September 30, 2020 ($ and sharesin
thousands):

Components of NAV September 30, 2020
Investmentsin real properties $ 3,880,099
Investmentsin real estate-related securities 228,524
Cash and cash equivalents 132,341
Restricted cash 126,157
Other assets 48,562
Debt obligations (2,584,905)
Subscriptions received in advance (88,402)
Other ligbilities (71,533)
Performance participation accrual (46)
Management fee payable (1,736)
Accrued stockholder servicing fees® (652)
Minority interest (15,022)
Net asset value $ 1,653,387
Number of outstanding shares 77,415

(1)  Stockholder servicing fees only apply to Class S, Class T and Class D shares. For purposes of NAV we recognize the stockholder servicing fee
as areduction of NAV on amonthly basis as such feeis paid. Under GAAP, we accrue the full cost of the stockholder servicing fee asan
offering cost at thetimewe sell Class S, Class T and Class D shares. As of September 30, 2020, we have accrued under GAAP $65.3 million
of stockholder servicing fees payable to the Dealer Manager related to the Class S, Class T and Class D shares sold.

The following table provides a breakdown of our total NAV and NAV per share by share class as of September 30, 2020:

Third-party
Operating
Class S ClassT ClassD Class| Partner ship
NAV Per Share Shares Shares Shares Shares Units® Total
Net asset value $874,910,650 $48,246,917 $53,034,260 $666,943,124 $10,252,106 $1,653,387,057
Number of outstanding shares 40,910,827 2,270,733 2,491,810 31,261,064 480,539 77,414,973

NAYV per share as of September 30, 2020 $ 21.39 $ 2125 $ 21.28 $ 21.33 $ 21.33

(1) Includesthe partnership interests of the Operating Partnership held by the Special Limited Partner.
Status of our Current Public Offering

We are currently offering on a continuous basis up to $5.0 billion in shares of common stock, consisting of up to $4.0 billion in shares
in our primary offering and up to $1.0 hillion in shares pursuant to our distribution reinvestment plan. As of the date hereof, we had
issued and sold (i) 83,531,677 shares of our common stock (consisting of 43,401,619 Class S shares, 2,467,492 Class T shares,
2,601,829 Class D shares and 35,060,737 Class | shares) in the primary offering for total proceeds of $1.8 hillion and (ii) 2,282,683
shares of our common stock (consisting of 1,454,088 Class S Shares, 60,846 Class T Shares, 101,489 Class D Shares and 666,260
Class| Shares) pursuant to our distribution reinvestment plan for atotal value of $48.5 million. We intend to continue selling sharesin
the offering on amonthly basis.



Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q

Our prospectusis hereby supplemented with our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, excluding exhibits, for the quarter ended September
30, 2020, that was filed with the SEC on November 10, 2020, a copy of which is attached to this Supplement No. 15 as Appendix A.

Management Update

The following disclosure updates the “ Management—Directors and Executive Officers’ section of the Prospectus and other sections
of the Prospectus as appropriate.

On November 6, 2020, Dave Guiteau notified our board of directors of his resignation as our Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer,
effective November 16, 2020. Mr. Guiteau’ s resignation was not due to any disagreement with us, the Advisor or any of our affiliates.

On November 11, 2020, our board of directors appointed Chris Lowthert to serve as our Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer,
effective November 16, 2020. The appointment of Mr. Lowthert was not made pursuant to any arrangement or understanding between
him and any other person. Biographical information with respect to Mr. Lowthert is set forth below:

Chris Lowthert has served as our Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer since November 2020, roles that he previously held from
October 2017 to April 2019. Mr. Lowthert has also served as Senior Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer of Funds at
Starwood Capital since January 2016. In thisrole, heisresponsible for all fund-level financial accounting and reporting. Prior to
joining Starwood Capital in 2016, Mr. Lowthert held various senior risk and financial roles with GE Capital Real Estate (“ GE
Capital”) including Asset Quality & Portfolio Monitoring Leader from October 2014 to December 2015, Controller of North America
from August 2012 to October 2014, Chief Financia Officer of Global Investment Management from October 2010 to August 2012
and Chief Financia Officer of U.S. Equity from April 2009 to September 2010. Before joining GE Capital, Mr. Lowthert served as
Director of Corporate Audit at MassMutual Financial Group. Mr. Lowthert began his career at PricewaterhouseCoopers, LLP where
he was an audit manager in the firm’s financial services group in its New Y ork office, focusing on public and private real estate
clients. Mr. Lowthert received aB.S. degree in accounting from Saint Michael’s College. Heis also a certified public accountant.
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QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIESEXCHANGE

ACT OF 1934

FOR THE QUARTERLY PERIOD ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2020
OR

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIESEXCHANGE

ACT OF 1934

For the Transition period from to
Commission file number 000-56046

w
4

HEAL ESTATE INCOSAE TEUST
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1601 Washington Avenue, Suite 800

Maryland Miami Beach, FL 33139 82-2023409
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incor poration or organization) I dentification No.)

Registrant’stelephone number, including area code:  (305) 695-5500

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act: None.

Trading
Title of each class Symbol(s) Name of each exchange on which registered

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant (1) hasfiled all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the Registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to
such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405
of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit
suchfiles). Yes No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is alarge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, smaller reporting company, or
an emerging growth company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller reporting company,” and “emerging
growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.:

Large accelerated filer O Accelerated filer O
Non-accelerated filer Smaller reporting company
Emerging growth company X

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any
new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act). Yes O No

As of November 10, 2020, the registrant had the following shares outstanding: 2,387,614 shares of Class T common stock, 43,963,487 shares of Class S
common stock, 2,621,251 shares of Class D common stock and 36,196,257 shares of Class | common stock.
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Starwood Real Estate Income Trust, Inc.

Consolidated Balance Sheets (Unaudited)
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

September 30, 2020 December 31, 2019

Assets
Investmentsin real estate, net $ 3,526,855 $ 1,798,044
Investmentsin real estate-related securities 228,524 277,651
Investments in unconsolidated real estate ventures 11,006 12,169
Cash and cash equivalents 132,342 48,479
Restricted cash 126,157 140,482
Other assets 225,896 113,497

Total assets $ 4,250,780 $ 2,390,322
Liabilitiesand Equity
Mortgage notes and revolving credit facility, net $ 2482472  $ 1,238,102
Repurchase agreements 114,408 81,035
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities 104,783 47,979
Subscriptions received in advance 88,402 110,618
Dueto affiliates 73,768 63,341

Total liabilities 2,863,833 1,541,075
Commitments and contingencies — —
Redeemable non-controlling interest 10,252 —

Equity
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value per share, 100,000,000 shares authorized;

none issued and outstanding as of September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019 — —
Common stock — Class T shares, $0.01 par value per share, 250,000,000 shares

authorized; 2,270,733 and 1,412,563 shares issued and outstanding as of

September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively 23 14
Common stock — Class S shares, $0.01 par value per share, 250,000,000 shares

authorized; 40,910,827 and 26,164,794 shares issued and outstanding as of

September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively 409 262
Common stock — Class D shares, $0.01 par value per share, 250,000,000 shares

authorized; 2,491,810 and 1,653,094 shares issued and outstanding as of

September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively 25 17
Common stock — Class | shares, $0.01 par value per share, 250,000,000 shares

authorized; 31,261,064 and 16,114,284 shares issued and outstanding as of

September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively 313 161
Additional paid-in capital 1,533,049 883,506
Accumulated deficit and cumulative distributions (167,721) (46,697)

Total stockholders equity 1,366,098 837,263

Non-controlling interests in consolidated joint ventures 10,597 11,984

Total equity 1,376,695 849,247

Total liabilitiesand equity $ 4,250,780 $ 2,390,322

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.



Starwood Real Estate Income Trust, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations (Unaudited)
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Revenues
Rental revenue
Hotel revenue
Other revenue
Total revenues
Expenses
Rental property operating
Hotel operating
General and administrative
Management fees
Performance participation allocation
Depreciation and amortization
Total expenses
Other income (expense)
Loss from unconsolidated real estate ventures
Income (loss) from real estate-related securities, net
Interest expense
Other (expense) income, net
Total other expense
Net loss
Net loss attributable to non-controlling interests in consolidated
joint ventures
Net loss attributable to non-controlling interests in Operating
Partnership
Net loss attributable to stockholders

Net loss per share of common stock, basic and diluted

Weighted-aver age shar es of common stock outstanding,
basic and diluted

Three Months Ended September 30,

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2020

2019

2020

2019

$ 71,896 $ 13184 $ 186688 $ 25154
4,420 10,238 17,134 31,380

604 604 1,600 1,650

76,920 24,026 205,422 58,184
25,915 4,724 64,873 9,219
3,589 6,131 12,294 17,670

2,023 1,076 6,163 2,877

5,018 1,713 13,560 2,793

— 2,286 46 5,501

38,543 8,444 107,993 20,852
75,088 24,374 204,929 58,912
(666) (233) (887) (46)

11,068 3,323 (27) 6,868
(22,539) (6,153) (65,448) (15,625)
(192) 335 (29) 389
(12,329) (2,728) (66,391) (8,414)

$  (10497) $ (3076) $  (6589) $ (9,142)
$ 139 $ 5 $ 1,186 $ 43
43 — 458 —

$  (10315) $ (3051) $  (64254) $ (9,099)
$ (0.14) $ (012) $ (0.96) $ (0.52)
74215048 25638557 66,696,838 17,492,457

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.



Balance at December 31, 2019

Common stock issued

Offering costs

Distribution reinvestments

Amortization of restricted
stock grants

Common stock repurchased

Net loss ($332 allocated to
redeemable non-
controlling interest)

Contributions from non-controlling

interests

Distributions to non-controlling
interests

Distributions declared on
common stock (see Note 9)

Allocation to redeemable non-
controlling interest

Balance at March 31, 2020

Common stock issued

Offering costs

Distribution reinvestments

Amortization of restricted
stock grants

Common stock repurchased

Net loss ($83 alocated to
redeemable non-
controlling interest)

Contributions from non-controlling

interests

Distributions to non-controlling
interests

Repurchase of non-controlling
interests

Distributions declared on
common stock (see Note 9)

Allocation to redeemable non-
controlling interest

Balance at June 30, 2020

Common stock issued

Offering costs

Distribution reinvestments

Amortization of restricted
stock grants

Common stock repurchased

Net loss ($43 alocated to
redeemable non-
controlling interest)

Distributions to non-controlling
interests

Distributions declared on
common stock (see Note 9)

Allocation to redeemable non-
controlling interest

Balance at September 30, 2020

Starwood Real Estate Income Trust, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Changesin Equity (Unaudited)

(in thousands)

Par Value Accumulated
Common Common Common Common  Additional Deficit and Total Non-
Stock Stock Stock Stock Paid-In Cumulative  Stockholders  controlling Total
ClassT Class S ClassD Class| Capital Distributions Equity Interests Equity
$ 14 $ 262 $ 17 $ 161 $ 883506 $ (46,697) $ 837,263 $ 11,984 $ 849,247
6 94 6 89 421,464 — 421,659 — 421,659
— — — — (20,528) — (20,528) — (20,528)
— 2 — 1 8,361 — 8,364 — 8,364
— — — — 21 — 21 — 21
— — — — (980) — (980) — (980)
— — — — — (39,677) (39,677) (638) (40,315)
— — — — — — — 58,840 58,840
— — — — — — — (356) (356)
— — — — — (16,368) (16,368) — (16,368)
— — — — (302) — (302) — (302)
20 358 23 251 1,291,542 (102,742) 1,189,452 69,830 1,259,282
2 23 1 17 95,201 — 95,244 — 95,244
— — — — (5,369) — (5,369) — (5,369)
— 3 — 2 10,458 — 10,463 — 10,463
— — — — 21 — 21 — 21
2) (5) — 3) (21,365) — (21,374) — (21,374)
— — — — — (14,262) (14,262) (409) (14,671)
— — — — — — — 1,352 1,352
— — — — — — — (831) (831)
— — — — — — — (58,837) (58,837)
— — — — — (19,300) (219,300) — (19,300)
— — — — (274) — (274) — (274)
21 379 24 267 1,370,214 (136,304) 1,234,601 11,105 1,245,706
2 29 1 46 163,321 — 163,399 — 163,399
— — — — (4,689) — (4,689) — (4,689)
— 3 — 1 10,483 — 10,487 — 10,487
— — — — 38 — 38 — 38
— (2) — (2) (6,205) — (6,108) — (6,108)
— — — — — (10,316) (10,316) (139) (10,455)
— — — — — — — (369) (369)
— — — — — (21,101) (21,101) — (21,101)
— — — — (213) — (213) — (213)
$ 23 $ 409 $ 25 $ 313 $1533049 $ (167,721) $ 1,366,098 $ 10,597 $1,376,695

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.



Starwood Real Estate Income Trust, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Changesin Equity (Unaudited)
(in thousands)

Par Value Accumulated
Common Common Common Common Additional  Deficit and Total Non-
Stock Stock Stock Stock Paid-In Cumulative  Stockholders  controlling Total
ClassT ClassS ClassD Classl| Capital Distributions Equity Interests Equity
Balance at December 31, 2018 $ — 3 66 $ — $ 15 $148770 $ (1,729) $ 147,122 $ — $147,122

Common stock issued 2 17 3 21 85,543 — 85,586 — 85,586
Offering costs — — — — (4,049) — (4,049) — (4,049)
Distribution reinvestments — — — — 396 — 396 — 396
Amortization of restricted

stock grants — — — — 29 — 29 — 29
Net loss — — — — — (2,468) (2,468) — (2,468)
Distributions declared on

common stock (see Note 9) — — — — — (1,631) (1,631) — (1,631)

Balance at March 31, 2019 2 83 3 36 230,689 (5,828) 224,985 — 224,985

Common stock issued 4 45 3 13 133,964 — 134,029 — 134,029
Offering costs — — — — (9,593) — (9,593) — (9,593)
Distribution reinvestments — 1 — — 2,118 — 2,119 — 2,119
Amortization of restricted

stock grants — — — — 21 — 21 — 21
Net loss — — — — — (3,578) (3,578) (18) (3,596)
Contributions from non-controlling

interests — — — — — — — 3,129 3,129
Distributions to non-controlling

interests — — — — — — — (24) (24)
Distributions declared on

common stock (see Note 9) — — — (4,404) (4,404) — (4,404)

Balance at June 30, 2019 6 129 6 49 357,199 (13,810) 343,579 3,087 346,666
Common stock issued 4 61 6 40 228,468 — 228,579 — 228,579
Offering costs — — — —  (13,241) — (13,241) —  (13,241)
Distribution reinvestments — 1 — — 3,417 — 3,418 — 3,418
Common stock repurchased — — — — (181) — (181) — (181)
Net loss — — — — — (3,051) (3,051) (25) (3,076)
Contributions from non-controlling

interests — — — — — — — 664 664
Distributions to non-controlling
interests — — — — — — — (210) (210)
Distributions declared on
common stock (see Note 9) — — — — — (7,207) (7,207) — (7,207)
Balance at September 30, 2019 $ 10 $ 191 $ 12 $ 89 $575662 $ (23968) $ 551,996 $ 3516 $555512

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.



Starwood Real Estate Income Trust, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Unaudited)

(in thousands)
Nine Months Ended September 30,

2020 2019
Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss $ (65,898) $ (9,242)
Adjustmentsto reconcile net lossto net cash provided by operating activities
Management fee 13,560 2,793
Performance participation allocation 46 5,501
Depreciation and amortization 107,993 20,852
Amortization of deferred financing costs 2,303 592
Deferred income amortization (924) (1,365)
Unrealized loss on changesin fair value of financial instruments 13,803 821
Losson sales of real estate-related securities 5,789 —
Amortization of restricted stock grants 80 50
Distributions from investments in unconsolidated real estate ventures 276 429
Loss from unconsolidated real estate ventures 887 46
Other items 25 4
Changein assetsand liabilities
Increase in other assets (17,986) (9,144)
(Decrease) / increase in due to affiliates (118) 254
Increase in accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities 18,934 17,468
Net cash provided by operating activities 78,770 29,159
Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisitions of real estate (1,891,638) (585,236)
Capital improvementsto real estate (13,678) (4,832)
Purchase of real estate-related securities (73,188) (368,616)
Proceeds from paydown of principal and settlement of real estate-related securities 111,866 100,256
Net cash used in investing activities (1,866,638) (858,428)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net 556,857 446,074
Offering costs paid (10,421) (4,518)
Subscriptions received in advance 88,402 65,875
Repurchase of common stock (28,462) (181)
Borrowings from mortgage notes and revolving credit facility 1,251,843 280,661
Repayments of mortgage notes and revolving credit facility (1,628) (1,060)
(Repayments) borrowings under repurchase agreements, short term net (81,035) 34,330
Borrowings under repurchase agreements 114,408 —
Payment of deferred financing costs (7,569) (5,157)
Contributions from non-controlling interests 60,192 3,793
Distributions to non-controlling interests (1,556) (234)
Repurchase of non-controlling interests (58,837) —
Distributions (24,788) (4,418)
Net cash provided by financing activities 1,857,406 815,165
Net changein cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash 69,538 (14,104)
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at the beginning of the period 188,961 164,921
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at the end of the period $ 258,499 $ 150,817
Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash to the consolidated
balance sheets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 132342 % 65,718
Restricted cash 126,157 85,099
Total cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash $ 258499 $ 150,817
Non-cash financing activities:
Assumption of mortgage notes in conjunction with acquisitions of real estate $ — $ 220,933
Accrued stockholder servicing fee due to affiliate $ 26383 $ 21,616
Accrued offering costs due to affiliates $ — % 751
Right of use asset/liability $ 6408 $ —
Redeemable non-controlling interest issued as settlement for performance
participation allocation $ 10366 $ —
Accrued distributions $ 7350 $ 2,789
Distribution reinvestment $ 29314  $ 5,933

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.



Starwood Real Estate Income Trust, Inc.
Notesto Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

1.  Organization and Business Purpose

Starwood Real Estate Income Trust, Inc. (the “Company”) was formed on June 22, 2017 as a Maryland corporation and has elected to
be taxed as areal estate investment trust (“REIT”) for U.S. federal income tax purposes commencing with the taxable year ended
December 31, 2019. The Company was organized to invest primarily in stabilized, income-oriented commercial real estate and debt
secured by commercial real estate. The Company’s portfolio is principally comprised of properties located in the United States. The
Company may diversify its portfolio on aglobal basis through the acquisition of properties outside of the United States, with afocus on
Europe. To alesser extent, the Company invests in debt secured by commercial real estate and real estate-related securities. The
Company is the sole general partner of Starwood REIT Operating Partnership, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (the “ Operating
Partnership”). Starwood REIT Special Limited Partner, L.L.C. (the “ Special Limited Partner”), awholly owned subsidiary of Starwood
Capital Group Holdings, L.P. (the “Sponsor”), owns a specia limited partner interest in the Operating Partnership. Substantially all of
the Company’ s business is conducted through the Operating Partnership.  The Company and the Operating Partnership are externally
managed by Starwood REIT Advisors, L.L.C. (the “Advisor”), an affiliate of the Sponsor.

The Company has registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC") an offering of up to $5.0 billion in shares of
common stock, consisting of up to $4.0 billion in shares in its primary offering and up to $1.0 billion in shares pursuant to its
distribution reinvestment plan (the “ Offering”). The Company is selling in the Offering any combination of four classes of shares of its
common stock, with adollar value up to the maximum aggregate amount. The share classes have different upfront selling commissions,
dealer manager fees and ongoing stockholder servicing fees. The Company intends to continue selling shares on a monthly basis. On
October 29, 2020, the Company filed a registration statement on Form S-11 with the SEC for its follow-on public offering, which has
not yet been declared effective.

As of September 30, 2020, the Company owned 106 investmentsin real estate and 58 positionsin real estate-related securities. The
Company currently operatesin six reportable segments:  Multifamily, Hotel, Industrial, Office, Medical Office and Real Estate-
Related Securities. Financial results by segment are reported in Note 13.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Poalicies
Principles of Consolidation and Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America (“ GAAP”) for interim financial information and the instructions to Form 10-Q and Rule 10-01
of Regulation S-X. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. Management
believes it has made all necessary adjustments, consisting of only normal recurring items, so that the consolidated financial statements
are presented fairly and that estimates made in preparing its consolidated financial statements are reasonable and prudent. The
accompanying unaudited consolidated interim financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated
financial statements included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019 filed with
the SEC.

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company, the Company’s subsidiaries and
joint ventures in which the Company has a controlling interest. For consolidated joint ventures, the non-controlling partner’ s share of
the assets, liabilities and operations of the joint venturesis included in non-controlling interests as equity of the Company. The non-
controlling partner’ sinterest is generally computed as the joint venture partner’ s ownership percentage.

In determining whether the Company has a controlling financial interest in a partially owned entity and the requirement to consolidate
the accounts of that entity, the Company considers whether the entity is a variable interest entity (“VIE") and whether it is the primary
beneficiary. The Company is the primary beneficiary of aVIE when it has (i) the power to direct the most significant activities
impacting the economic performance of the VIE and (ii) the obligation to absorb losses or receive benefits significant tothe VIE. The
Operating Partnership is considered to be a VIE. The Company consolidates the Operating Partnership because it has the ability to
direct the most significant activities of the entities such as purchases, dispositions, financings, budgets, and overall operating plans.
Where the Company does not have the power to direct the activities of the VIE that most significantly impact its economic
performance, the Company's interest for those partially owned entities are accounted for using the equity method of accounting. The



Company meets the VIE disclosure exemption criteria, as the Company’s interest in the Operating Partnership is considered a majority
voting interest.

The preparation of financial statementsin conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the balance sheet.  Actual
results could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents represent cash held in banks, cash on hand, and liquid investments with original maturities of three months
or less. The Company may have bank balances in excess of federally insured amounts; however, the Company deposits its cash and
cash equival ents with high credit-quality institutions to minimize credit risk exposure.

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash primarily consists of cash received for subscriptions prior to the date in which the subscriptions are effective. The
Company’srestricted cash is held primarily in abank account controlled by the Company’ s transfer agent but in the name of the
Company. The remaining balance of restricted cash primarily consists of amountsin escrow related to real estate taxes and insurance
in connection with mortgages at certain of the Company’s properties and tenant security deposits.

Investmentsin Real Estate

In accordance with the guidance for business combinations, the Company determines whether the acquisition of a property qualifies as
a business combination, which requires that the assets acquired and liabilities assumed constitute a business. If the property acquired is
not a business, the Company accounts for the transaction as an asset acquisition. All property acquisitions to date have been accounted
for as asset acquisitions.

The Company capitalizes acquisition-related costs associated with asset acquisitions. Upon acquisition of a property, the Company
assesses the fair value of acquired tangible and intangible assets (including land, buildings, tenant improvements, “ above-market” and
“below-market” leases, acquired in-place leases, other identified intangible assets and assumed liabilities) and allocates the purchase
price to the acquired assets and assumed liabilities. The Company assesses and considers fair value based on estimated cash flow
projections that utilize discount and/or capitalization rates that it deems appropriate, as well as other available market information.
Estimates of future cash flows are based on a number of factors including the historical operating results, known and anticipated trends
and market and economic conditions.

Thefair value of the tangible assets of an acquired property considers the value of the property asif it were vacant. The Company also
considers an alocation of purchase price of other acquired intangibles, including acquired in-place leases that may have a customer
relationship intangible value, including (but not limited to) the nature and extent of the existing relationship with the tenants, the
tenants’ credit quality and expectations of lease renewals. Based on its acquisitions to date, the Company’ s allocation to customer
relationship intangible assets has not been material.

The cost of buildings and improvements includes the purchase price of the Company’s properties and any acquisition-related costs,
along with any subsequent improvements to such properties. The Company’sinvestmentsin real estate are stated at cost and are
generally depreciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Description Depreciable Life

Building 35 - 40 years

Building and land improvements 5-15years

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5-7years

Lease intangibles and |easehold improvements Shorter of useful life or lease term

Repairs and maintenance are expensed to operations as incurred and are included in Rental property operating and Hotel operating
expenses on the Company’ s Consolidated Statements of Operations. Significant improvements to properties are capitalized. When
assets are sold or retired, their costs and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts with the resulting gains or
losses reflected in net income or loss for the period.



The Company records acquired above-market and below-market leases at their fair values (using a discount rate which reflects the risks
associated with the leases acquired) equal to the difference between (1) the contractual amounts to be received pursuant to each in-place
lease and (2) management’ s estimate of fair market lease rates for each corresponding in-place lease, measured over a period equal to
the remaining term of the lease for above-market leases and the initial term plus the term of any bel ow-market fixed rate renewal
options for below-market leases. Other intangible assets acquired include amounts for in-place lease values that are based on the
Company’s evaluation of the specific characteristics of each tenant’s lease. Factorsto be considered include estimates of carrying costs
during hypothetical expected lease-up periods considering current market conditions, and costs to execute similar leases. In estimating
carrying costs, the Company includes real estate taxes, insurance and other operating expenses and estimates of lost rentals at market
rates during the expected lease-up periods, depending on local market conditions. In estimating costs to execute similar leases, the
Company considers leasing commissions, legal and other related expenses.

The amortization of acquired above-market and below-market leases is recorded as an adjustment to Rental revenue on the Company’s
Consolidated Statements of Operations. The amortization of in-place leases is recorded as an adjustment to Depreciation and
amortization expense on the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Certain of the Company’sinvestmentsin real estate are subject to aground lease, for which alease liability and corresponding right-of-
use (“ROU") asset were recognized. The Company calculates the amount of the lease liability and ROU asset by taking the present
value of the remaining lease payments, and adjusting the ROU asset for any existing straight-line ground rent liability and acquired
ground lease intangibles. The Company’s estimated incremental borrowing rate of aloan with asimilar term as the ground lease was
used asthe discount rate. The lease liability isincluded as a component of Accounts payable, accrued expenses, and other liabilities
and the related ROU asset is recorded as a component of Investmentsin real estate, net on the Company’ s Consolidated Balance
Sheets. The amortization of the below-market ground lease is recorded as an adjustment to Depreciation and amortization expense on
the Company’ s Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The Company’ s management reviews its real estate properties for impairment when there is an event or change in circumstances that
indicates an impaired value. Since cash flows on real estate properties considered to be “long-lived assets to be held and used” are
considered on an undiscounted basis to determine whether an asset has been impaired, the Company’ s strategy of holding properties
over the long term decreases the likelihood of recording an impairment loss. If the Company’s strategy changes or market conditions
otherwise dictate an earlier sale date, an impairment loss may be recognized and such loss could be material to the Company’s resullts.
If the Company determines that an impairment has occurred, the affected assets must be reduced to their fair value. During the periods
presented, no such impairment occurred.

Investmentsin Unconsolidated Real Estate Ventures

Investments in unconsolidated joint ventures are initially recorded at cost, and subsequently adjusted for equity in earnings and cash
contributions and distributions. Under the equity method of accounting, the net equity investment of the Company is reflected within
the Consolidated Balance Sheets, and the Company’ s share of net income or loss from the joint ventures isincluded within the
Company’ s Consolidated Statements of Operations. The joint venture agreements may designate different percentage allocations
among investors for profits and losses; however, the Company’ s recognition of joint venture income or loss generally follows the joint
venture' s distribution priorities, which may change upon the achievement of certain investment return thresholds. The Company’s
investments in unconsolidated joint ventures are reviewed for impairment periodically and the Company records impairment charges
when events or circumstances change indicating that a decline in the fair values below the carrying values has occurred and such
declineis other-than-temporary. The ultimate realization of the investment in unconsolidated joint ventures is dependent on a number
of factors, including the performance of each investment and market conditions.

Investmentsin Real Estate-Related Securities

The Company has elected to classify itsinvestment in real estate-related securities as trading securities and carry such investments at
estimated fair value. As such, the resulting gains and losses are recorded as a component of Income (loss) from real estate-related
securities, net on the Company’ s Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Interest income from the Company’ sinvestmentsin real estate-related securities is recognized over the life of each investment using
the effective interest method and is recorded on the accrual basis. Recognition of premiums and discounts associated with these
investments is deferred and recorded over the term of the investment as an adjustment to yield. Such items are recorded as components
of Investmentsin real estate-related securities on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.



Derivative | nstruments

In the normal course of business, the Company is exposed to the effect of interest rate changes. The Company seeks to manage these
risks by following established risk management policies and procedures including the use of derivatives to hedge interest rate risk on
debt instruments.  The Company recognizes all derivatives as either assets or liabilities in the Company’ s Consolidated Balance Sheets
and measures those instruments at fair value.

Fair Value M easur ements

Under normal market conditions, the fair value of an investment is the amount that would be received to sell an asset or transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date (i.e., the exit price). Additionally, thereisa
hierarchal framework that prioritizes and ranks the level of market price observahility used in measuring investments at fair value.
Market price observahility isimpacted by a number of factors, including the type of investment and the characteristics specific to the
investment and the state of the market place, including the existence and transparency of transactions between market participants.
Investments with readily available active quoted prices or for which fair value can be measured from actively quoted prices generally
will have a higher degree of market price observability and alesser degree of judgment used in measuring fair value.

Investments measured and reported at fair value are classified and disclosed in one of the following levels within the fair value
hierarchy:

Level 1 — quoted prices are available in active markets for identical investments as of the measurement date. The Company does not
adjust the quoted price for these investments.

Level 2 — quoted prices are available in markets that are not active or model inputs are based on inputs that are either directly or
indirectly observable as of the measurement date.

Level 3 — pricing inputs are unobservable and include instances where there is minimal, if any, market activity for the investment.
These inputs require significant judgment or estimation by management or third parties when determining fair value and generally
represent anything that does not meet the criteriaof Levels 1 and 2. Due to the inherent uncertainty of these estimates, these values
may differ materially from the values that would have been used had a ready market for these investments existed.

Valuation

The Company generally determines the fair value of its real estate-related securities by utilizing third-party pricing service providers.

In determining the value of a particular investment, the pricing service providers may use broker-dealer quotations, reported trades or
valuation estimates from their internal pricing models to determine the reported price. The pricing service providers' internal models
for real estate-related securities usually consider the attributes applicable to a particular class of security (e.g., credit rating, seniority),
current market data, and estimated cash flows for each class and incorporate deal collateral performance such as prepayment speeds and
default rates, as available. On April 1, 2020, the entire Investmentsin real estate-related securities portfolio was transferred into Level 2
from Level 3 primarily due to increased price transparency. As of September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the Company’s
investment in real estate-related securities are classified as Level 2.

Fair value of the Company’s indebtednessis estimated by modeling the cash flows required by the Company’ s debt agreements and
discounting them back to the present value using an appropriate discount rate. Additionally, the Company considers current market rate
and conditions by evaluating similar borrowing agreements with comparable |oan-to-value ratios and credit profiles. The inputsused in
determining the fair value of the Company’s indebtedness are considered Level 3. As of September 30, 2020, the fair value of the
Company’ s mortgage notes, revolving credit facility and repurchase agreements was approximately $25.0 million below the
outstanding principal balance.

The Company’ sinterest rate swap agreements are valued using a discounted cash flow analysis based on the terms of the contract and
the forward interest rate curve adjusted for the Company’ s nonperformance risk. The Company’s interest rate cap positions are valued
using models developed by the respective counterparty as well asthird party pricing service providers that use as their basis readily
observable market parameters (such as forward yield curves and credit default swap data). The Company’s derivative positions are
classified as Level 2. As of September 30, 2020, the fair value of the Company’ s interest rate caps were approximately $5.2 million
below their cost. As of September 30, 2020, the Company’ s interest rate swaps had an aggregate fair value liability of $5.8 million.



The fair values of the Company’s financial instruments (other than real estate-related securities, mortgage notes, revolving credit
facility and derivative instruments), including cash and cash equivalents and other financial instruments, approximate their carrying or
contract value.

Deferred Charges

The Company’ s deferred charges include financing and leasing costs. Deferred financing costs include legal, structuring and other loan
costs incurred by the Company for its financing agreements. Deferred financing costs related to the Company’ s mortgage notes are
recorded as an offset to the related liability and amortized over the term of the applicable financing instruments as interest expense.
Deferred financing costs related to the Company’ s revolving credit facility are recorded as a component of Other assets on the
Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets and amortized over the term of the applicable financing agreement. Deferred leasing costs
incurred in connection with new leases, which consist primarily of brokerage commissions, are recorded as a component of Investments
in real estate, net on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets and amortized over the life of the related lease.

Revenue Recognition

The Company commences revenue recognition on its leases based on a number of factors, including the initial determination that the
contract isor contains alease. Generaly, al of the Company’s contracts are, or contain leases, and therefore revenue is recognized
when the lessee takes possession of or controls the physical use of the leased assets. In most instances this occurs on the lease
commencement date. At the inception of anew lease, including new leases that arise from amendments, the Company assesses the
terms and conditions of the lease to determine the proper lease classification.

The Company adopted the provisions of Accounting Standards Update (“*ASU") 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) and related ASUs
subsequently issued (collectively, “ASC 842") as of January 1, 2019. A leaseis classified as an operating lease if none of the following
criteriaare met: (i) ownership transfers to the lessee at the end of the lease term, (ii) the lessee has a purchase option that is reasonably
expected to be exercised, (iii) the lease term is for amajor part of the economic life of the leased property, (iv) the present value of the
future lease payments and any residual value guaranteed by the lessee that is not already reflected in the lease payments equals or
exceeds substantially all of the fair value of the leased property, and (v) the leased property is of such a specialized naturethat it is
expected to have no future alternative use to the Company at the end of the lease term. If one or more of these criteria are met, the lease
will generally be classified as a sales-type lease, unless the lease contains aresidual value guarantee from athird party other than the
lessee, in which case it would be classified as a direct financing lease under certain circumstances in accordance with ASC 842.

The Company’s rental revenue primarily consists of fixed contractual base rent arising from tenant leases at the Company’ s properties
under operating leases. Revenue under operating leases that are deemed probable of collection, is recognized as revenue on a straight-
line basis over the non-cancelable terms of the related leases. For |eases that have fixed and measurable rent escalations, the difference
between such rental income earned and the cash rent due under the provisions of the lease is recorded in the Company’ s Consolidated
Balance Sheets. The Company’s Hotel revenue consists of room revenue and food and beverage revenue. Room revenue is recognized
when the related room is occupied and other hotel revenue is recognized when the service is rendered.

Certain of the Company’s contracts contain nonlease components (e.g., charges for management fees, common area maintenance, and
reimbursement of third-party maintenance expenses) in addition to lease components (i.e., monthly rental charges). Servicesrelated to
nonlease components are provided over the same period of time as, and billed in the same manner as, monthly rental charges. The
Company elected to apply the practical expedient available under ASC 842, for all classes of assets, not to segregate the lease
components from the nonlease components when accounting for operating leases. Since the lease component is the predominant
component under each of these leases, combined revenues from both the lease and nonlease components are accounted for in
accordance with ASC 842 and reported as Rental revenues in the Company’ s Consolidated Statements of Operations.

In connection with its investments, the Company has utilized loan programs designed to encourage housing development. The
proceeds from these loans are governed by restrictive covenants. For certain housing development loans, so long as the Company
remains in compliance with the covenants and program requirements, the loans will be forgiven in equal annual installments until the
loans are discharged in full. The Company treats these loans as deferred income and records them as a component of Accounts payable,
accrued expenses and other liabilities on the Company’ s Consolidated Balance Sheets. As of September 30, 2020 and December 31,
2019, deferred income related to these loans amounted to $6.0 million and $6.6 million, respectively. Asthe loan balances are reduced
during the compliance period, the Company will record income associated with the discharge of the loans as a component of Other
revenue on the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020, Other
revenue related to these loans amounted to $0.2 million and $0.6 million, respectively. For the three and nine months ended September
30, 2019, Other revenue related to these loans amounted to $0.5 million and $1.4 million, respectively.
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Other revenues and interest income are recorded on an accrual basis.

Organization and Offering Expenses

Organization costs are expensed as incurred and recorded as a component of General and administrative expenses on the Company’s
Consolidated Statements of Operations and offering costs are charged to equity as such amounts are incurred.

The Advisor advanced $7.3 million of organization and offering expenses on behalf of the Company (including legal, accounting, and
other expenses attributabl e to the organization, but excluding upfront selling commissions, dealer manager fees and stockhol der
servicing fees) through December 21, 2019, the first anniversary of the date on which the proceeds from escrow were released. The
Company reimburses the Advisor for al such advanced expenses ratably over a 60 month period following December 21, 2019. These
organization and offering costs are recorded as a component of Due to affiliates on the Company’ s Consolidated Balance Sheets as of
September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019.

Starwood Capital, L.L.C. (the “Dealer Manager”), aregistered broker-dealer affiliated with the Advisor, serves as the dealer manager
for the Offering. The Dealer Manager is entitled to receive selling commissions and dealer manager fees based on the transaction price
of each applicable class of shares sold in the primary offering. The Dealer Manager is also entitled to receive a stockholder servicing
fee based on the aggregate net asset value (“NAV") of the Company’s outstanding Class T shares, Class S shares, and Class D shares.

The following table details the selling commissions, dealer manager fees, and stockholder servicing fees for each applicable share class
as of September 30, 2020:

Common Common Common Common
Stock Stock Stock Stock
ClassT ClassS ClassD Class|
Selling commissions and dealer manager fees
(% of transaction price) upto35% upto35% uptol.5% —
Stockholder servicing fee (% of NAV) 0.85% 0.85% 0.25% —

For Class S shares sold in the primary offering, investors will pay upfront selling commissions of up to 3.5% of the transaction price.
For Class T shares sold in the primary offering, investors will pay upfront selling commissions of up to 3.0% of the transaction price
and upfront dealer manager fees of 0.5% of the transaction price, however such amounts may vary at certain participating broker-
dedlers, provided that the sum will not exceed 3.5% of the transaction price. For Class D shares sold in the primary offering, investors
will pay upfront selling commissions of up to 1.5% of the transaction price. Prior to February 4, 2020, no upfront selling commissions
were paid on Class D shares.

The Dealer Manager is entitled to receive stockholder servicing fees of 0.85% per annum of the aggregate NAV for Class S shares and
Class T shares. For Class T shares such stockholder servicing fee includes, an advisor stockholder servicing fee of 0.65% per annum,
and a dealer stockholder servicing fee of 0.20% per annum, of the aggregate NAV for the Class T shares, however, with respect to
Class T shares sold through certain participating broker-dealers, the advisor stockholder servicing fee and the dealer stockholder
servicing fee may be other amounts, provided that the sum of such feeswill always equal 0.85% per annum of the NAV of such shares.
The Class D shares will incur a stockholder servicing fee equal to 0.25% per annum of the aggregate NAV for the Class D shares.
There is no stockholder servicing fee with respect to Class | shares.

The Dealer Manager has entered into agreements with the selected deal ers distributing the Company’ s shares in the Offering, which
provide, among other things, for the re-allowance of the full amount of the selling commissions and dealer manager fees received and
all or aportion of the stockholder servicing fees to such selected dealers. The Company will cease paying the stockholder servicing fee
with respect to any Class T share, Class S share or Class D share sold in the primary offering at the end of the month in which the total
selling commissions, dealer manager fees and stockholder servicing fees paid with respect to the shares held by such stockholder within
such account would exceed 8.75% (or, in the case of Class T shares sold through certain participating broker-dealers, alower limit as
set forth in any applicable agreement between the Dealer Manager and a participating broker-dealer) of the gross proceeds from the sale
of such share (including the gross proceeds of any shares issued under the Company’ s distribution reinvestment plan with respect
thereto). The Company will accrue the full cost of the stockholder servicing fee as an offering cost at the time each Class T, Class Sand
Class D share is sold during the primary offering. As of September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the Company had accrued $65.3
million and $44.1 million respectively, of stockholder servicing fees related to shares sold and recorded such amount as a component of
Due to affiliates on the Company’ s Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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Income Taxes

The Company has elected to be taxed as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code (the “ Code”), for federal income tax purposes,
beginning with its taxable year ended December 31, 2019. If the Company qualifies for taxation asa REIT, it generally will not be
subject to U.S. federal corporate income tax on its net taxable income that is currently distributed to its stockholders. A REIT is subject
to a number of organizational and operational requirements, including a requirement that it currently distributes at least 90% of its
REIT taxable income (subject to certain adjustments) to its stockholders. If the Company failsto qualify asa REIT in ataxable year,
without the benefit of certain relief provisions, it will be subject to federal and state income tax on its taxable income at regular
corporate tax rates. Even if the Company qualifies for taxation asa REIT, it may also be subject to certain federal, state, and local taxes
on itsincome and assets, including (1) taxes on any undistributed income, (2) taxes related to its taxable REIT subsidiaries (“TRSs")
and (3) certain state or local income taxes.

In anticipation of its REIT election, the Company has formed wholly owned subsidiaries to function as TRSs and filed TRS elections,
together with such subsidiaries, with the Internal Revenue Service. In general, a TRS may perform additional servicesfor the
Company’ s tenants and generally may engagein any real estate or non-real estate-related business other than management or operation
of alodging facility or a health carefacility. The TRSswill be subject to taxation at the federal, state and local levels, as applicable, at
the regular corporate tax rates. The Company accounts for applicable income taxes by utilizing the asset and liability method. As such,
the Company records deferred tax assets and liabilities for the future tax consequences resulting from the difference between the
carrying value of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis. A valuation allowance for deferred tax assetsis provided if
the Company believes all or some portion of the deferred tax asset may not be realized.

For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020, the Company recognized an income tax expense of $0.03 million and benefit
of $0.04 million, respectively, within Other expense on the Company’ s Consolidated Statements of Operations. For the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2019, the Company recognized an income tax expense of $0.1 million and $0.2 million, respectively,
within Other expense on the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations. As of September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019,
the Company recorded a net deferred tax liability of $0.1 million and $0.1 million, respectively, due to its hotel investments within
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities on the Company’ s Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Net Lossper Share

Basic net loss per share is computed by dividing net loss attributable to stockholders for the period by the weighted average number of
common shares outstanding during the period. All classes of common stock are allocated net loss at the same rate per share and receive
the same gross distribution per share. Diluted loss per share is computed by dividing net loss attributable to stockholders for the period
by the weighted average number of common shares and common share equivalents outstanding (unless their effect is antidilutive) for
the period. There are no common share equivalents outstanding that would have a dilutive effect as aresult of the net loss, and
accordingly, the weighted average number of common shares outstanding isidentical for the periods ended September 30, 2020 and
2019, for both basic and diluted shares.

The restricted stock grants of Class | shares held by the Company’ s independent directors are not considered to be participating
securities because they do not contain non-forfeitable rights to distributions. As aresult, thereis no impact of these restricted stock
grants on basic and diluted net loss per common share until the restricted stock grants have fully vested.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB”) issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses
(Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments, to amend the accounting for credit losses for certain financial
instruments. Under the new guidance, an entity recognizes its estimate of expected credit losses as an allowance, which the FASB
believes will result in more timely recognition of such losses. In November 2018, the FASB released ASU 2018-19, Codification

I mprovements to Topic 326, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses. This amendment clarifies that receivables arising from operating
leases are not within the scope of Subtopic 326-20. Instead, impairment of receivables arising from operating leases should be
accounted for in accordance with Subtopic 842-30, Leases—Lessor. These ASUs are effective for interim and annual reporting periods
in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, with early adoption permitted as of the fiscal year beginning after December 15,
2018, including adoption in an interim period. The majority of the Company’s receivables arise in the ordinary course of business from
operating leases with its tenants and are therefore not subject to the guidance in Subtopic 326-20. Subtopic 842-30 was adopted as of
January 1, 2020, and the Company has determined the adoption of this guidance did not have a material effect on its consolidated
financial statements.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-13, “Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820) — Disclosure Framework,” which adds new
disclosure requirements and modifies or eliminates existing disclosure requirements of ASC 820. This ASU is effective for annual
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periods, and interim periods therein, beginning after December 15, 2019 and was adopted as of January 1, 2020. The Company has
determined the application of this ASU does not materially impact the Company.

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, "Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes." The
amendments simplify the accounting for income taxes by removing certain exceptions to the general principles of Topic 740, "Income
Taxes" and aso improve consistent application by clarifying and amending existing guidance. The new standard is effective for fiscal
years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2020. Early adoption is permitted, with the
amendments to be applied on aretrospective, modified retrospective or prospective basis, depending on the specific anendment. The
Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting this guidance.

In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-04, “Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate
Reform on Financial Reporting.” ASU 2020-04 provides optional expedients and exceptions to GAAP requirements for modifications
on debt instruments, leases, derivatives, and other contracts, related to the expected market transition from LIBOR, and certain other
floating rate benchmark indices, or collectively, IBORS, to alternative reference rates. ASU 2020-04 generally considers contract
modifications related to reference rate reform to be an event that does not require contract remeasurement at the modification date nor a
reassessment of a previous accounting determination. The guidance in ASU 2020-04 is optional and may be elected over time, through
December 31, 2022, as reference rate reform activities occur. Once ASU 2020-04 is el ected, the guidance must be applied

prospectively for al eigible contract modifications. The Company has not adopted any of the optional expedients or exceptions as of
September 30, 2020, but will continue to evaluate the possible adoption of any such expedients or exceptions during the effective
period as circumstances evolve.

In April 2020, FASB staff issued a question and answer document (the “Lease Modification Q& A") focused on the application of lease
accounting guidance to lease concessions provided as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. The Lease Modification Q& A allowsthe
Company, if certain criteria have been met, to elect to either apply the lease modification accounting framework or not, with such
election applied consistently to leases with similar characteristics and similar circumstances. The Company has elected to apply such
relief to avoid performing alease-by-lease analysis for any potential lease concessions granted as relief due to the COVID-19 pandemic
that result in the cash flows remaining under the lease to be substantially the same or less. The Lease Modification Q& A did not have a
material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements as of and for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020.
However, its future impact to the Company is dependent upon the extent of |ease concessions granted to tenants as a result of the
COVID-19 pandemic in future periods and the el ections made by the Company at the time of entering into such concessions. It is not
possible at this time to accurately project the nature or extent of any such possible concessions.

3. I nvestments
Investmentsin Real Estate
Investmentsin real estate, net consisted of the following ($ in thousands):

September 30, 2020 December 31, 2019
Building and building improvements $ 2921982 $ 1,455,204
Land and land improvements 536,330 322,520
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 63,579 46,268
Right of use asset - operating lease™ 101,382 —
Total 3,623,273 1,823,992
Accumulated depreciation (96,418) (25,948)
Investmentsin real estate, net $ 3,526,855 $ 1,798,044

(@  Refer to Note 12 for additional details on the Company’s leases.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2020, the Company acquired interests in 34 properties, which were comprised of 25
multifamily properties, six industrial properties, two office buildings and one medical office building. During the year ended December
31, 2019, the Company acquired interestsin 71 properties, which were comprised of 16 multifamily properties, eight hotel properties,
12 office buildings, 33 industrial properties and two medical office buildings.
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The following table provides further details of the properties acquired during the nine months ended September 30, 2020 ($in
thousands):

Ownership Number of Acquisition Real Estate

I nvestment Interest Properties L ocation Sector Date Acquisition @
R ok 100% 21 Various® Multifamily Vaious ~ $ 574,253

Housing Portfolio

Nashville Office 100% 1 Nashville, TN Office February 21, 2020 265,404
Barlow Building 100% 1 Chevy Chase, MD Medical Office March 6, 2020 162,212
60 State St 100% 1 Boston, MA Office March 20, 2020 613,052
Highlands Portfolio 96% 3 Columbus, OH Multifamily June 23, 2020 103,228
The Baxter Decatur 100% 1 Atlanta, GA Multifamily August 21, 2020 82,199
Airport Logistics Park 100% 6 Nashville, TN Industrial September 15, 2020 62,806
34 $ 1863154

(@ Purchase priceisinclusive of acquisition-related costs.
@  The Southeast Affordable Housing Portfolio is primarily concentrated in Orlando, FL (25% of units), Jacksonville, FL (24%),
Newport News, VA (11%), Tucson, AZ (8%), Charlotte, NC (7%) and Raleigh, NC (6%).

The following table summarizes the purchase price allocation for the properties acquired during the nine months ended September 30,
2020 ($ in thousands):

Southeast
Affordable
Housing Nashville Barlow Highlands
60 State St Portfolio Office Building Portfolio All Others Total
Building and building
improvements $ 479534 $ 440,771 $ 228180 $ 110,793 $ 86,557 $ 123178 $ 1,469,013

Land and land improvements 473 111,660 21,636 31,681 8,895 15,535 189,880
Furniture, fixtures and
equipment — 7,860 — — 5,140 2,648 15,648
Below-market ground lease® 95,201 — — — — — 95,201
In-place lease intangibles 47,736 7,814 18,791 12,188 1,408 4,143 92,080
Above-market lease
intangibles 10,369 — 410 5,848 — 26 16,653
Below-market lease
intangibles (19,063) — (4,917) (510) — (1,230) (25,720)
Tota purchase price? $ 614250 $ 568,105 $ 264,100 $ 160,000 $ 102,000 $ 144,300 $ 1,852,755
Non-controlling interest — — — — (1,178) — (1,178)
Net purchase price $ 614250 $ 568105 $ 264,100 $ 160,000 $ 100,822 $ 144,300 $ 1,851,577

@ The below-market ground lease value was recorded as a component of the Right of use asset — operating leases on the Company’s
Consolidated Balance Sheet. Refer to Note 12 for additional details on the Company’ s leases.
@ Purchase price does not include acquisition related costs and acquired working capital of $10.4 million.

The weighted-average amortization periods for the acquired in-place lease intangibl es, above-market lease intangibles, bel ow-market
lease intangibles and below-market ground |ease for the properties acquired during the nine months ended September 30, 2020 were
seven years, seven years, eight years and 47 years, respectively.
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The estimated future amortization on the Company’ s below-market ground lease for each of the next five years and thereafter as of
September 30, 2020 is as follows ($ in thousands):

Below-market
Ground
Lease
2020 (remaining) $ 542
2021 2,169
2022 2,169
2023 2,169
2024 2,169
Thereafter 85,624
$ 4842

Investments in unconsolidated real estate ventures

On March 13, 2019, the Company entered into ajoint venture (the "Joint Venture") to acquire a Fort Lauderdale hotel. The Company
owns a43% interest in the Joint Venture. The Joint Venture is accounted for using the equity method of accounting and isincluded in
Investment in unconsolidated real estate venture in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. The Company's investment in the
Joint Venture totaled $11.0 million and $12.2 million as of September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively. The Company’s
income from its investment in the Joint Venture is presented in Loss from unconsolidated real estate ventures on the Company’s
Consolidated Statements of Operations and totaled $0.7 million and $0.9 million for the three and nine months ended September 30,
2020, respectively. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019, the Company’ s loss from its investment in the Joint
Venture totaled $(0.2) million and $(0.05) million, respectively.

4. Intangibles

The gross carrying amount and accumulated amortization of the Company’ s intangible assets and liabilities consisted of the following
($in thousands):

September 30, 2020 December 31, 2019
Intangible assets: @
In-place lease intangibles $ 170,754 $ 77,311
Above-market |ease intangibles 22,096 5,387
Other 31,019 30,801
Total intangible assets 223,869 113,499
Accumulated amortization:
In-place |lease amortization (47,314) (12,341)
Above-market |ease intangibles (2,540) (318)
Other (2,955) (635)
Total accumulated amortization (52,809) (13,294)
Intangible assets, net $ 171,060 $ 100,205
Intangible liahilities: @
Below-market lease intangibles $ 32714 $ 7,032
Accumulated amortization (2,494) (331)
Intangible liabilities, net $ 30,220 $ 6,701

@ Included in Other assets on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.
@ Included in Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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The estimated future amortization on the Company’ s intangibles for each of the next five years and thereafter as of September 30, 2020
isasfollows ($ in thousands):

In-place L ease Above-market Below-market
Intangibles L ease I ntangibles Other L ease I ntangibles
2020 (remaining) $ 4,742 $ 1,039 $ 1138 $ (1,040)
2021 29,155 3,783 2,933 (3,658)
2022 22,243 3,298 2,924 (3,378)
2023 16,470 2,854 2,839 (3,122)
2024 11,942 1,863 2,825 (2,686)
Thereafter 38,888 6,719 15,405 (16,336)
$ 123440 $ 19556 $ 28064 $ (30,220)

5. Investmentsin Real Estate-Related Securities
The following tables detail the Company’sinvestmentsin rea estate-related securities ($ in thousands):

September 30, 2020

Number of Weighted Average Weighted Average
I nstrument Positions Coupon @ Maturity Date @ Cost Basis Fair Value
RMBS 57 3.27% June 6, 2046 $ 228263 $ 225,295
CMBS 1 5.76% July 25, 2039 3,446 3,229
58 $ 231,709 $ 228,524

December 31, 2019

Number of Weighted Average Weighted Average
Instrument Positions Coupon ® Maturity Date @ Cost Basis Fair Value
RMBS 59 3.76% October 17, 2040 $ 235405 $ 236,844
CLO 12 6.12% May 11, 2031 29,302 29,236
CMBS 4 3.73% March 13, 2037 11,473 11,571
75 $ 276,180 $ 277,651

@ Asof September 30, 2020, the Company’s RMBS investments had floating rate coupons ranging from 0.00% to 7.95% and its
CMBS investment had afloating rate coupon of 5.76%.
@  Weighted average maturity date is based on the fully extended maturity date of the underlying collateral.

The majority of the Company’s real estate-related securities portfolio consist of non-agency residential mortgage-backed securities
(“RMBS"). The Company also has an investment in commercial mortgage-backed securities (“*CMBS").

During the three months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, the Company recorded net unrealized gains of $9.2 million and $0.2
million, respectively, related to investmentsin real estate-related securities.  During the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and
2019, the Company recorded net unrealized losses of $4.7 million and net unrealized gains of $0.9 million, respectively, and realized
(losses) gainsrelated to itsreal estate-related securities portfolio of $(5.8) million and $0.4 million, respectively. Such amounts are
recorded as a component of Income (loss) from real estate-related securities, net on the Company’ s Consolidated Statements of
Operations.
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6. Mortgage Notes and Revolving Credit Facility

The following table is a summary of the mortgage notes and revolving credit facility secured by the Company’s properties ($in
thousands):

Principal Balance Outstanding @

Maximum
Weighted Average Weighted Average Facility
Indebtedness Interest Rate® Maturity Date® Size September 30, 2020 December 31, 2019
Fixed rate loans
Fixed rate mortgages 2.69% 9/26/2029 NA $ 1543340 $ 1,004,423
Total fixed rate |loans 1,543,340 1,004,423
Variable rate loans
Floating rate mortgages L +1.75% 3/1/2025 N/A 779,097 240,599
Variable rate revolving credit facility ¥ L +2.00% 10/21/2021 $ 200,000 172,800 —
Total variable rate loans 951,897 240,599
Total loans secured by the Company's
properties 2,495,237 1,245,022
Deferred financing costs, net (13,033) (7,136)
Premium on assumed debt, net 268 216
M ortgage notes and revolving credit
facility, net $ 2482472 $ 1,238,102

D Theterm “L” refersto the one-month LIBOR. As of September 30, 2020, one-month LIBOR was egua to 0.15%.
For loans where the Company, at its own discretion, has extension options, the maximum maturity date has been assumed.
The magjority of the Company’ s mortgages contain yield or spread maintenance provisions.

The Company’s revolving credit facility is used as bridge financing and can be drawn upon to fund the acquisition of future real
estate investments.

G

£

The following table presents the future principa payments under the Company’ s mortgage notes and revolving credit facility as of
September 30, 2020 ($ in thousands):

Year

Amount
2020 (remaining) $ 757
2021 175,901
2022 51,183
2023 3,931
2024 214,402
Thereafter 2,049,063
Total $ 2,495,237

Interest paid on the Company’ s mortgage notes and revolving credit facility for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020
was $18.3 million and $45.2 million, respectively. Interest paid on the Company’ s mortgage notes for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2019 was $4.9 million and $9.9 million, respectively.

The Company’ s mortgage notes and revolving credit facility may contain customary events of default and covenants, including
limitations on liens and indebtedness. The Company is not aware of any instance of noncompliance with financial covenants as of
September 30, 2020.
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7.  Repurchase Agreements

Repurchase agreements are treated as collateralized financing transactions and are carried at their contractual amounts, including
accrued interest, as specified in the respective agreements. Although structured as a sale and repurchase obligation, a repurchase
agreement operates as a financing under which securities are pledged as collateral to secure a short-term loan equal in valueto a
specified percentage of the market value of the pledged collateral. While used as collateral, the Company retains beneficial ownership
of the pledged collateral, including the right to distributions. At the maturity of a repurchase agreement, the Company is required to
repay the loan and concurrently receive the pledged collateral from the lender or, with the consent of the lender, renew such agreement
at the then prevailing financing rate.  The Company’s repurchase agreements typically have terms of one month to six months at
inception.

The carrying amount of the Company’ s repurchase agreements approximates fair value due to their short-term maturities or floating
rate coupons. Interest rates on these borrowings are determined based on prevailing rates corresponding to the terms of the
borrowings, and interest is paid at the termination of the borrowing at which time the Company may enter into a new borrowing
arrangement at prevailing market rates with the same counterparty or repay that counterparty and negotiate financing with a different
counterparty.

Thefair value of financia instruments pledged as collateral on the Company’ s repurchase agreements disclosed in the tables below
represent the Company’ s fair value of such instruments, which may differ from the fair value assigned to the collateral by its
counterparties.

For financial statement purposes, the Company does not offset its repurchase agreements and securities lending transactions because
the conditions for netting as specified by GAAP are not met. Although not offset on the Company’ s Consolidated Balance Sheets, these
transactions are included in the following tables ($ in thousands):

September 30, 2020

Weighted
Average Weighted
Maturity Average Collateral Outstanding
Security Interest Date Coupon Assets® Balance
RMBS 12/16/2020  2.39% $ 166,709 $ 112,001
CMBS 10/9/2020 2.92% 3,229 2,407
$ 169,938 $ 114,408
December 31, 2019
Weighted
Average Collateral Outstanding
Security Interest Coupon Assets® Balance
RMBS 2.62% $ 89,784 $ 74,876
CLO 4.71% 7,962 6,159

$ 97,746 $ 81,035

@ Representsthe fair value of the Company’sinvestmentsin real estate-related securities.

Interest paid on the Company’ s repurchase agreements for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 was $0.9 million and
$2.8 million, respectively. Interest paid on the Company’ s repurchase agreements for the three and nine months ended September 30,
2019 was $1.1 million and $2.6 million, respectively.
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8. Other Assetsand Other Liabilities

The following table summarizes the components of Other assets ($ in thousands):

September 30, 2020

December 31, 2019

Intangibl e assets, net $ 171,060 $ 100,205
Receivables 18,065 7,763
Acquisition deposits 31,587 3,050
Derivative instruments 418 203
Prepaid expenses 3,929 1,456
Interest receivable 580 —
Other 257 820

Total $ 22589% $ 113,497

The following table summarizes the components of Accounts payable, accrued expenses, and other liabilities ($ in thousands):

September 30, 2020 December 31, 2019

Intangible liabilities, net $ 30220 $ 6,701
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 15,074 10,188
Real estate taxes payable 17,446 6,513
Deferred income 9,205 6,707
Tenant security deposits 6,892 3,547
Right of useliability - operating lease 6,396 —
Distributions payable 7,350 4,216
Accrued interest expense 5,547 1,993
Derivative instruments 5,902 —
Other 751 8,114

Total $ 104,783 $ 47,979

9.  Equity and Redeemable Non-controlling I nter est
Authorized Capital

The Company is authorized to issue preferred stock and four classes of common stock consisting of Class T shares, Class S shares,
Class D shares, and Class | shares. The Company’s board of directors has the ability to establish the preferences and rights of each class
or series of preferred stock, without stockholder approval, and as such, it may afford the holders of any series or class of preferred stock
preferences, powers and rights senior to the rights of holders of common stock. The differences among the common share classes relate
to upfront selling commissions, dealer manager fees and ongoing stockholder servicing fees. See Note 2 for a further description of
such items. Other than the differences in upfront selling commissions, dealer manager fees and ongoing stockholder servicing fees,
each class of common stock is subject to the same economic and voting rights.

As of September 30, 2020, the Company had the authority to issue 1,100,000,000 shares of capital stock, consisting of the following:

Classification Number of Shares Par Value

Preferred Stock 100,000,000 $ 0.01

Class T Shares 250,000,000 $ 0.01

Class S Shares 250,000,000 $ 0.01

Class D Shares 250,000,000 $ 0.01

Class | Shares 250,000,000 $ 0.01
Total 1,100,000,000
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Common Sock

The following table details the movement in the Company’ s outstanding shares of common stock:

Nine months ended September 30, 2020

ClassT Class S ClassD Class| Total
December 31, 2019 1,412,563 26,164,794 1,653,094 16,114,284 45,344,735
Common stock shares issued 950,474 14,647,233 845,900 15,122,090 31,565,697
Distribution reinvestment plan shares issued 39,322 847,747 62,520 420,998 1,370,587
Common stock shares repurchased (131,626) (748,947) (69,704) (396,308)  (1,346,585)
September 30, 2020 2,270,733 40,910,827 2,491,810 31,261,064 76,934,434

Distributions

The Company generally intends to distribute substantialy al of its taxable income, which does not necessarily equal net income as
calculated in accordance with GAAP, to its stockholders each year to comply with the REIT provisions of the Code.

Each class of common stock receives the same gross distribution per share. The net distribution varies for each class based on the
applicable stockholder servicing fee, which is deducted from the monthly distribution per share and paid directly to the applicable
distributor.

The following table detail s the aggregate distributions declared for each applicable class of common stock for the nine months ended
September 30, 2020:

ClassT Class S ClassD Class|
Gross distributions declared per share of common stock $ 09315 $ 09315 $ 09315 $ 0.9315
Stockholder servicing fee per share of common stock (0.1357) (0.1361) (0.0399) —
Net distributions declared per share of common stock $ 07958 $ 07954 $ 08916 $ 0.9315

Redeemable Non-controlling Interest

In connection with its performance participation interest, the Special Limited Partner holds Class | unitsin the Operating Partnership.
See Note 10 for further details of the Special Limited Partner’s performance participation interest. Because the Special Limited Partner
has the ability to redeem its Class | unitsfor cash, at the election of the Specia Limited Partner, the Company has classified these Class
| units as Redeemable non-controlling interest in mezzanine equity on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. The Redeemable
non-controlling interest is recorded at the greater of the carrying amount, adjusted for its share of the allocation of income or loss and
dividends, or the redemption value, which is equivalent to fair value, of such units at the end of each measurement period. Asthe
redemption value was greater than the adjusted carrying value at September 30, 2020, the Company recorded an all ocation adjustment
of $0.8 million between Additional paid-in capital and Redeemable non-controlling interest.

The following table summarizes the Redeemable non-controlling interest activity for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 ($in
thousands):

December 31, 2019 $ —
Settlement of 2019 performance participation allocation 10,366
GAAP income alocation (458)
Distributions (448)
Fair value allocation 792
September 30, 2020 $ 10,252
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Share Repurchase Plan

The Company has adopted a share repurchase plan, whereby on amonthly basis, stockholders may request that the Company
repurchase all or any portion of their shares. The Company may choose to repurchase all, some or none of the shares that have been
requested to be repurchased at the end of any particular month, in its discretion, subject to any limitations in the share repurchase plan.
The total amount of aggregate repurchases of Class T, Class S, Class D, and Class | shares (excluding any early repurchase deduction)
islimited to 2% of the aggregate NAV per month (measured using the aggregate NAV as of the end of the immediately preceding
month) and 5% of the aggregate NAV per calendar quarter (measured using the aggregate NAV as of the end of the immediately
preceding quarter). Shares are repurchased at a price equal to the transaction price on the applicable repurchase date, subject to any
early repurchase deduction. Shares that have not been outstanding for at least one year are repurchased at 95% of the transaction price.
Dueto theilliquid nature of investmentsin real estate, the Company may not have sufficient liquid resources to fund repurchase
requests and may elect not to repurchase some or al of the shares submitted for repurchase in a given period. Further, the Company
may make exceptions to modify, suspend or terminate the share repurchase plan. For the three and nine months ended September 30,
2020, the Company repurchased 290,074 and 1,346,585 shares of common stock representing atotal of $6.2 million and $28.9 million,
respectively. The Company had no unfulfilled repurchase requests during the nine months ended September 30, 2020.

Distribution Reinvestment Plan

The Company has adopted a distribution reinvestment plan whereby stockholders (other than clients of participating broker dealers and
residents of certain states that do not permit automatic enrollment in the distribution reinvestment plan) will have their cash
distributions automatically reinvested in additional shares of common stock unless they elect to receive their distributions in cash.
Stockholders who (i) reside in a state or jurisdiction that requires affirmative enrollment in the distribution reinvestment plan or (ii) are
clients of a participating broker-dealer that requires affirmative enrollment in the distribution reinvestment plan will automatically
receive their distributions in cash unless they elect to have their cash distributions reinvested in additional shares of the Company’s
common stock. The per share purchase price for shares purchased pursuant to the distribution reinvestment plan will be equal to the
transaction price before upfront selling commissions and dealer manager fees at the time the distribution is payable, which will
generaly be equal to the Company’s prior month’sNAV per share for that share class. Stockholders will not pay upfront selling
commissions or dealer manager fees when purchasing shares pursuant to the distribution reinvestment plan. The stockholder servicing
fees with respect to shares of the Company’s Class T shares, Class S shares and Class D shares are calculated based on the NAV for
those shares and may reduce the NAV or, aternatively, the distributions payable with respect to shares of each such class, including
sharesissued in respect of distributions on such shares under the distribution reinvestment plan.

10. Related Party Transactions
Acquisition of Initial Investments

On January 3, 2019, the Company acquired a multifamily property portfolio (the “Florida Multifamily Portfolio”) from an affiliate of
the Advisor, for approximately $100 million, excluding closing costs. The Florida Multifamily Portfolio is a garden style multifamily
portfolio totaling 1,150 units and comprised of two properties located in Jacksonville, Florida and two properties located in Naples,
Florida. An affiliate of the Advisor acquired the Florida Multifamily Portfolio on October 5, 2018 from an unaffiliated third party for
approximately $100 million, excluding closing costs.

On January 3, 2019, the Company acquired a multifamily property (the “Phoenix Property”) from an affiliate of the Advisor for
approximately $46 million, excluding closing costs. The Phoenix Property is a garden style multifamily property totaling 256 units
located in Mesa, Arizona. An affiliate of the Advisor acquired the Phoenix Property on June 29, 2018 from an unaffiliated third party
for approximately $46 million, excluding closing costs.

On January 3, 2019, the Company acquired a multifamily property (the “ Savannah Property”) from an affiliate of the Advisor for
approximately $36 million, excluding closing costs. The Savannah Property is a new construction multifamily property located in
Savannah, Georgiatotaling 203 units. An affiliate of the Advisor acquired the Savannah Property on July 19, 2018 from an unaffiliated
third party for approximately $36 million, excluding closing costs.

On March 20, 2020, the Company acquired a 75% interest in 60 State Street, a 911,000-square-foot office building in Boston,
Massachusetts through a joint venture, between the Company and Starwood Capital Group Holdings, L.P., the Company’ s sponsor

(“ Starwood Capital Group”). Starwood Capital Group purchased a 25% interest (the “60 State Street Membership Interests’) alongside
the Company with the intent of subsequently selling it to an unaffiliated firm. Starwood Capital Group subsequently exercised its right
to put the 60 State Street Membership Interests to the Company. During the second quarter of 2020, the Company acquired the 60 State
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Street Membership Interests in three transactions at a cost of $59.0 million plus interest equal to one month LIBOR +2.40% or $0.3
million. As aresult of this transaction, the Company holds 100% of the investment in 60 State Street.

Management Fee and Performance Participation Allocation

The Advisor is entitled to an annual management fee equal to 1.25% of the Company’s NAV, payable monthly as compensation for the
services it provides to the Company. The management fee can be paid, at the Advisor's election, in cash, shares of common stock, or
Operating Partnership units. The Advisor waived its management fee through March 31, 2019. During the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2020, the Company incurred management fees of $5.0 million and $13.6 million, respectively. During the period
from April 1, 2019 to September 30, 2019, the Company incurred management fees of $2.8 million.

To date, the Advisor has elected to receive the management fee in shares of the Company’ s common stock. For the nine months ended
September 30, 2020, the Company issued 554,198 unregistered Class | shares to the Advisor as payment for the management fee and
also had a payable of $1.7 million related to the management fee as of September 30, 2020, which isincluded in Due to affiliates on the
Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. During October 2020, the Advisor was issued 81,344 unregistered Class | shares as payment
for the $1.7 million management fee accrued as of September 30, 2020. The shares issued to the Advisor for payment of the
management fee were issued at the applicable NAV per share at the end of each month for which the fee was earned.

Additionally, the Special Limited Partner, an affiliate of the Advisor, holds a performance participation interest in the Operating
Partnership that entitlesit to receive an allocation of the Operating Partnership’s total return to its capital account. Total returnis
defined as distributions paid or accrued plus the change in NAV. Under the Operating Partnership agreement, the annual total return
will be allocated solely to the Special Limited Partner after the other unit holders have received atotal return of 5% (after recouping
any loss carryforward amount) and such allocation will continue until the allocation between the Special Limited Partner and al other
unit holdersis equal to 12.5% and 87.5%, respectively. Thereafter, the Special Limited Partner will receive an allocation of 12.5% of
the annual total return. The annual distribution of the performance participation interest will be paid in cash or Class | units of the
Operating Partnership, at the election of the Special Limited Partner. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020, the
Company recognized $0 and $46,000, respectively, of performance participation allocation in the Company’s Consolidated Statements
of Operations. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019, the Company recognized $2.3 million and $5.5 million,
respectively, of performance participation allocation in the Company’ s Consolidated Statements of Operations

The 2019 performance participation allocation became payable on December 31, 2019 and, in January 2020, the Company issued
480,539 Class | unitsin the Operating Partnership to the Special Limited Partner as payment for the 2019 performance participation
allocation. Such Class | units were issued at the NAV per unit as of December 31, 2019.

Dueto Affiliates
The following table details the components of Due to affiliates ($ in thousands):

September 30, 2020 December 31, 2019

Accrued stockholder servicing fee $ 65,348 $ 44,086
Advanced organization and offering costs 6,194 7,290
Performance participation allocation 46 10,366
Accrued management fee 1,736 1,037
Accrued affiliate service provider expenses 246 112
Advanced operating expenses 198 450

Total $ 73,768 $ 63,341

Accrued stockholder servicing fee

As described in Note 2, the Company accrues the full amount of the future stockholder servicing fees payable to the Dealer Manager
for Class T, Class S, and Class D shares up to the 8.75% limit at the time such shares are sold. As of September 30, 2020 and December
31, 2019, the Company has accrued $65.3 million and $44.1 million, respectively, of stockholder servicing fees payable to the Dealer
Manager related to the Class T, Class S shares and Class D shares sold. The Dealer Manager has entered into agreements with the
selected deal ers distributing the Company’ s shares in the Offering, which provide, among other things, for the re-allowance of the full
amount of the selling commissions and dealer manager fee and all or a portion of the stockholder servicing fees received by the Dedler
Manager to such selected dedlers.
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Advanced organization and offering costs

The Advisor and its affiliates incurred $7.3 million, respectively, of organization and offering costs (excluding upfront selling
commissions, dealer manager fees and stockholder servicing fees) on behalf of the Company through December 21, 2019. Such
amount is being reimbursed to the Advisor ratably over 60 months, which commenced in January 2020.

Accrued affiliate service provider expenses

The Company has engaged and expects to continue to engage Highmark Residential (formerly Milestone Management), a portfolio
company owned by an affiliate of Starwood Capital Group, to provide day-to-day operational and management services (including
leasing, construction management, revenue management, accounting, legal and contract management, expense management, and capital
expenditure projects and transaction support services) for a portion of the Company’s multifamily properties. The cost for such
services is a percentage of the gross receipts and project costs respectively (which will be reviewed periodically and adjusted if
appropriate), plus actual costs allocated for transaction support services. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020,
the Company has incurred approximately $0.7 million and $1.8 million, respectively, of expenses due to Highmark Residential services
in connection with its investments and such amount isincluded in Rental property operating expenses on the Company’s Consolidated
Statements of Operations. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019, the Company incurred approximately $0.2
million and $0.5 million, respectively, of expenses due to Highmark Residential servicesin connection with its investments and such
amount isincluded in Rental property operating expenses on the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations

Advanced operating expenses

As of September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the Advisor had advanced approximately $0.1 million and $0.1 million,
respectively, of expenses on the Company’s behalf for general corporate expenses provided by unaffiliated third parties. Such
amounts are being reimbursed to the Advisor ratably over a 60 month period, which commenced in January 2020.

As of September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the Advisor had advanced approximately $0.1 million and $0.3 million,
respectively, of expenses on the Company’s behalf for general corporate expenses. Such amounts are being reimbursed to the Advisor
onemonth in arrears.

Affiliate service provider expenses

The Company has engaged Rinaldi, Finkelstein & Franklin L.L.C. (“RFF"), alaw firm owned and controlled by Ellis F. Rinaldi, Co-
General Counsel and Senior Managing Director of Starwood Capital Group and certain of its affiliates, to provide corporate legal
support services to the Company. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020, the amounts incurred for services provided
by RFF were $0.1 million and $0.2 million, respectively.

11. Commitmentsand Contingencies

As of September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the Company is not subject to any material litigation nor is the Company aware of
any material litigation threatened against it.

12. Leases
Lessee

Certain of the Company’sinvestmentsin real estate are subject to aground lease. The Company’s ground leaseis classified as an
operating lease based on the characteristics of the lease. The ground |ease was acquired as part of the acquisition of real estate and no
incremental costs were incurred for such ground lease. The Company’s ground lease is non-cancelable and does not contain any
additional renewal options.
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The following table presents the future lease payments due under the Company’s ground lease as of September 30, 2020 ($in
thousands):

Operating
L eases
2020 (remaining) $ 100
2021 399
2022 399
2023 399
2024 399
Thereafter 16,754
Total undiscounted future lease payments 18,450
Difference between undiscounted cash flows and discounted cash flows 12,054
Total lease liability $ 6,396

The Company utilized itsincremental borrowing rate of 6% to determineits lease liabilities. As of September 30, 2020, the weighted
average remaining lease term of the Company’s operating lease was 46 years.

Payments under the Company’ s ground lease contain fixed payment components. The Company’ s ground lease contained escal ations
prior to the Company’s hold period.

Lessor

The Company’ srental revenue primarily consists of rent earned from operating leases at the Company’ s multifamily, industrial, office
and medical office properties. Leases at the Company’sindustrial and office properties generally include a fixed base rent and certain
leases also contain a variable component. The variable component of the Company’s operating leases at its industrial, office and
medical office properties primarily consist of the reimbursement of operating expenses such as real estate taxes, insurance, and
common area maintenance costs.

L eases at the Company’ sindustrial, office and medical office properties are generally longer term and may contain extension and
termination options at the lessee’ s election. The Company’ s rental revenue earned from leases at the Company’ s multifamily properties
primarily consists of afixed base rent and certain leases contain a variable component that allows for the pass-through of certain
operating expenses such as utilities. L eases at the Company’s multifamily properties are short term in nature, generally not greater than
12 months in length.

The following table summarizes the fixed and variable components of the Company’s operating leases ($ in thousands):

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
2020 2019 2020 2019
Fixed |ease payments $ 64,196 $ 12,108 $ 164,417 $ 23,535
Variable lease payments 7,700 1,076 22,271 1,619
Rental revenue $ 71,896 $ 13,184 $ 186,688 $ 25,154
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The following table presents the undiscounted future minimum rents the Company expects to receive for itsindustrial, office and
medical office properties ($ in thousands) as of September 30, 2020. Leases at the Company’s multifamily properties are short term,
generaly 12 months or less, and are therefore not included.

Future
Minimum

Year Rents
2020 (remaining) $ 30,389
2021 121,446
2022 112,016
2023 102,210
2024 88,729
Thereafter 391,698
Total $ 846,488

13.  Segment Reporting

The Company operatesin six reportable segments: Multifamily properties, Hotel properties, Industrial properties, Office properties,
Medical office properties and Real estate-related securities. The Company allocates resources and evaluates results based on the
performance of each segment individually. The Company believes that segment net operating income is the key performance metric
that captures the unique operating characteristics of each segment.

The following table sets forth the total assets by segment ($ in thousands):

September 30,2020  December 31, 2019

Multifamily $ 1,788,978 $ 1,038,777
Hotel 245,806 253,273
Industrial 381,070 330,110
Office 1,195,562 303,396
Medical office 199,276 39,143
Readl estate-related securities 228,524 277,651
Other (Corporate) 211,564 147,972
Total assets $ 4,250,780 $ 2,390,322
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The following table sets forth the financial results by segment for the three months ended September 30, 2020 ($ in thousands):

Real Estate-
M edical Related
Multifamily Hotel Industrial Office Office Securities Total
Revenues:
Rental revenue $ 32891 $ — $ 7027 $ 28005 $ 3973 $ — $ 71,896
Hotel revenue — 4,420 — — — — 4,420
Other revenue 531 13 — 49 11 — 604
Total revenues 33,422 4,433 7,027 28,054 3,984 — 76,920
Expenses.
Rental property operating 13,186 — 1,641 9,644 1,444 — 25,915
Hotel operating — 3,589 — — — — 3,589
Total segment expenses 13,186 3,589 1,641 9,644 1,444 — 29,504
Income from real estate-related
securities, net — — — — — 11,068 11,068
L oss from unconsolidated
real estate ventures — (666) — — — — (666)
Segment net oper ating income $ 20236 $ 178 $ 5386 $ 18410 $ 2540 $ 11068 $ 57,818
Depreciation and amortization $ (15702) $ (2142) $ (4161) $ (14,214) $ (2324) $ — $ (38543)
General and administrative (2,023)
Management fees (5,018)
Performance participation allocation —
Interest expense (22,539)
Other expense, net 192
Net loss $ (10497)
Net loss attributable to non-
controlling interestsin
consolidated joint ventures 139
Net loss attributable to non-
controlling interestsin Operating
Partnership 43
Net loss attributable to stockholders $ (10,315)
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The following table sets forth the financia results by segment for the three months ended September 30, 2019 ($ in thousands):

Real Estate-
Related
Multifamily Hotel Office Securities Total
Revenues:
Rental revenue $ 5037 $ —  $ 7247 $ —  $ 13,184
Hotel revenue — 10,238 — — 10,238
Other revenue 498 95 11 — 604
Total revenues 6,435 10,333 7,258 — 24,026
Expenses:
Rental property operating 2,483 — 2,241 — 4,724
Hotel operating — 6,131 — — 6,131
Total segment expenses 2,483 6,131 2,241 — 10,855
Income from real estate-related securities, net — — — 3,323 3,323
L oss from unconsolidated real estate ventures — (233) — — (233)
Segment net operating income $ 3952 §$ 3969 $ 5017 $ 3323 $ 16,261
Depreciation and amortization $ (2,297) $ (2,065) $ (4,082) $ —  $ (8,444)
General and administrative (1,076)
Management fees (1,713)
Performance participation allocation (2,286)
Interest expense (6,153)
Other income, net 335
Net loss $ (3,076)
Net loss attributable to non-controlling
interests in consolidated joint ventures 25
Net loss attributable to stockholders $ (3,051)
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The following table sets forth the financial results by segment for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 ($ in thousands):

Real Estate-
M edical Related
Multifamily Hotel Industrial Office Office Securities Total
Revenues:
Rental revenue $ 87666 $ — $ 20415 $ 68777 $ 9830 $ — $ 186,688
Hotel revenue — 17,134 — — — — 17,134
Other revenue 1,376 91 — 103 30 — 1,600
Total revenues 89,042 17,225 20,415 68,880 9,860 — 205,422
Expenses.
Rental property operating 33,457 — 5,003 23,059 3,354 — 64,873
Hotel operating — 12,294 — — — — 12,294
Total segment expenses 33,457 12,294 5,003 23,059 3,354 — 77,167
Lossfrom real estate-related
securities, net — — — — — (27) (27)
L oss from unconsolidated real
estate ventures — (887) — — — — (887)
Segment net operatingincome(loss)$ 55585 $ 4044 $ 15412 $ 45821 $ 6506 $ (27) $ 127341
Depreciation and amortization $ (49826) $ (6,284) $ (12489) $ (34,319) $ (5075) $ — $ (107,993)
General and administrative (6,163)
Management fees (13,560)
Performance participation allocation (46)
Interest expense (65,448)
Other expense, net (29)
Net loss $ (65,898)
Net loss attributable to non-
controlling interestsin
consolidated joint ventures 1,186
Net loss attributable to non-
controlling interestsin Operating
Partnership 458
Net loss attributable to stockholders $ (64,254)
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The following table sets forth the financial results by segment for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 ($ in thousands):

Real Estate-
Related
Multifamily Hotel Office Securities Total
Revenues:
Rental revenue $ 14725 % —  $ 10,429 $ — 25,154
Hotel revenue — 31,380 — — 31,380
Other revenue 1,448 182 20 — 1,650
Total revenues 16,173 31,562 10,449 — 58,184
Expenses.
Rental property operating 6,062 — 3,157 — 9,219
Hotel operating — 17,670 — — 17,670
Total segment expenses 6,062 17,670 3,157 — 26,889
Income from real estate-related
securities, net — — — 6,868 6,868
L oss from unconsolidated real estate ventures — (46) — — (46)
Segment net oper ating income $ 10,111 $ 13846 $ 7292 $ 6,868 $ 38,117
Depreciation and amortization $ (8493) $ (6,173) $ (6,186) $ — 3 (20,852)
Genera and administrative (2,877)
Management fees (2,793)
Performance participation allocation (5,501)
Interest expense (15,625)
Other income, net 389
Net loss $ (9,142)
Net loss attributable to non-controlling
interests in consolidated joint ventures 43
Net loss attributable to stockholders $ (9,099)

14. Subsequent Events
Acquisitions

Subsequent to September 30, 2020, the Company acquired, in three separate transactions, industrial and multifamily real estate
properties with an aggregate cost of approximately $809.0 million, exclusive of closing costs and related working capital.

On October 30, 2020, the Company acquired an interest in an affordable housing multifamily portfolio with atotal of 958 units located
in Jacksonville, Florida utilizing in part a$22.0 million loan from Starwood Capital Group. The loan from Starwood Capital Group
bearsinterest at LIBOR +3.00% and was repaid on November 3, 2020.

Satus of the Offering

As of November 10, 2020, the Company had sold an aggregate of 85,814,360 shares of its common stock (consisting of 2,528,338
Class T shares, 44,855,707 Class S shares, 2,703,319 Class D shares, and 35,726,996 Class | shares) in the Offering resulting in net
proceeds of approximately $1.8 billion to the Company as payment for such shares.

Subsequent to September 30, 2020, the Company repurchased $4.1 million of the Company’s common stock.

Follow-On Public Offering

On October 29, 2020, the Company filed a registration statement on Form S-11 with the SEC for its follow-on public offering, which

has not yet been declared effective.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT'SDISCUSSION AND ANALY SIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

References herein to "Starwood Real Estate Income Trust, Inc.”, "Company," "we," "us," or "our" refer to Sarwood Real Estate
Income Trust, Inc. and its subsidiaries unless the context specifically requires otherwise.

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the unaudited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto
appearing elsewherein this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. In addition to historical data, this discussion contains forward-looking
statements about our business, operations and financial performance based on current expectations that involve risks, uncertainties
and assumptions. Our actual results may differ materially from thosein this discussion as a result of various factors, including but not
limited to those discussed under "Item 1A. Risk Factors' in our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the“ SEC”) on March 20, 2020 and elsewherein this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. We do not undertake to revise or
update any forward-looking statements.

Forward-L ooking Statements

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of
1933, as amended (the “ Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “ Exchange Act”). Forward-
looking statements include statements about our business, including, in particular, statements about our plans, strategies and objectives.
Forward-looking statements can generally be identified by our use of forward-looking terminology such as“may” “will,” “expect,”
“intend,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “believe,” “continue” or other similar words. These statements include our plans and objectives for
future operations, including plans and objectives relating to future growth and availability of funds, and are based on current
expectations that involve numerous risks and uncertainties, including risks related to the COVID-19 pandemic. Assumptions relating to
these statements involve judgments with respect to, among other things, future economic, competitive and market conditions and future
business decisions, all of which are difficult or impossible to accurately predict and many of which are beyond our control.

Although we believe the assumptions underlying the forward-looking statements, and the forward-looking statements themselves, are
reasonable, any of the assumptions could be inaccurate and, therefore, there can be no assurance that these forward-looking statements
will prove to be accurate and our actual results, performance and achievements may be materially different from that expressed or
implied by these forward-looking statements. In light of the significant uncertainties inherent in these forward looking statements, the
inclusion of thisinformation should not be regarded as a representation by us or any other person that our objectives and plans, which
we consider to be reasonable, will be achieved.

Y ou should carefully review Item 1A. Risk Factorsin our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019, and
elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for a discussion of the risks and uncertainties that we believe are material to our
business, operating results, prospects and financial condition. Except as otherwise required by federal securities laws, we do not
undertake to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or
otherwise.

Overview

We were formed on June 22, 2017 as a Maryland corporation to invest primarily in stabilized, income-oriented commercial rea estate
and debt secured by commercial real estate. Our portfoliois principally comprised of properties located in the United States. We may
diversify our portfolio on aglobal basis through investmentsin properties outside of the United States, with afocus on Europe. To a
lesser extent, we also may invest in debt secured by commercial real estate and real estate-related securities. We are an externally
advised, perpetual-life REIT. We own al or substantially all of our assets through the Operating Partnership, of which we are the sole
partner. We and the Operating Partnership are externally managed by the Advisor.

Our board of directors has at all times oversight and policy-making authority over us, including responsibility for governance, financial
controls, compliance and disclosure. Pursuant to an advisory agreement among the Advisor, the Operating Partnership and us (the
“Advisory Agreement”), we have delegated to the Advisor the authority to source, evaluate and monitor our investment opportunities
and make decisions related to the acquisition, management, financing and disposition of our assets, in accordance with our investment
objectives, guidelines, policies and limitations, subject to oversight by our board of directors.

We have elected to be taxed as a REIT under the Code for U.S. federal income tax purposes, commencing with our taxable year ended

December 31, 2019. We generally will not be subject to U.S. federal income taxes on our taxable income to the extent we annually
distribute all of our net taxable income to stockholders and maintain our qualification asa REIT.
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We have registered with the SEC an Offering of up to $5.0 hillion in shares of our common stock (in any combination of purchases of
Class T, Class S, Class D and Class | shares of our common stock), consisting of up to $4.0 billion in sharesin our primary offering and
up to $1.0 billion in shares pursuant to our distribution reinvestment plan. The share classes have different upfront selling commissions
and ongoing stockholder servicing fees. As of December 21, 2018, we satisfied the minimum offering requirement and our board of
directors authorized the release of proceeds from escrow. We intend to continue selling sharesin the Offering on a monthly basis. On
October 29, 2020, we filed a registration statement on Form S-11 with the SEC for our follow-on public offering, which has not yet
been declared effective.

As of November 10, 2020, we had received net proceeds of $1.8 billion from selling an aggregate of 85,814,360 shares of our common
stock (consisting of 2,528,338 Class T shares, 44,855,707 Class S shares, 2,703,319 Class D shares, and 35,726,996 Class | shares). We
have contributed the net proceeds from the Offering to the Operating Partnership in exchange for a corresponding number of Class T,
Class S, Class D and Class | units. The Operating Partnership has primarily used the net proceeds to make investmentsin rea estate
and real estate-related securities as further described below under “Portfolio.”

Recent Developments
COVID-19 Business Outlook

The outbreak of COVID-19 was declared by the World Health Organization as a global health emergency on January 30, 2020 and then
as apandemic in March 2020.

Many countries, including the United States, have reacted by instituting quarantines and restrictions on travel and limiting operations
for non-essential businesses. We have been following guidance from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and local health
authorities to ensure we have the plans and resources in place to safeguard the health and wellbeing of our colleagues and their
families, our business partners, our investors and tenants. The Advisor continues to operate normally across investment, asset
management and corporate support functions. The Advisor’s technology infrastructure has proven to be capable of supporting this
operating model.

COVID-19 hasimpacted global financial markets, severely restricted international trade and travel, disrupted business operations (in
part or in their entirety) and negatively impacted most investment asset classes including real estate. The rapid development and fluidity
of this situation precludes any prediction asto the ultimate adverse impact of COVID-19. Nevertheless, COVID-19 presents material
uncertainty and risk with respect to our future performance and financial results, such as the potential negative impact to the tenants of
our office, medical office, industrial and multifamily properties, the potential closure of certain of our hotel assets, financing
arrangements, increased costs of operations, decrease in values of our investmentsin real estate and real estate-related securities,
changesin law or regulation, and uncertainty regarding government and regulatory policy. We are unable to estimate the impact
COVID-19 will have on our future financial results at thistime.

Impact of COVID-19 - Results of Operations

COVID-19 had aminimal impact on rent collections for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020. As of the date of this
filing, we have collected approximately 97% of our rents for the three months ended September 30, 2020, whichisin line with pre-
COVID-19 collections.

Our operating results depend, in large part, on revenues derived from leasing to residential and commercia tenants and the ability of
our tenants to earn sufficient income to pay their rentsin atimely manner. While we have performed relatively well in this regard, the
rapid devel opment and fast-changing nature of the COVID-19 pandemic creates many unknowns that could have a future material
impact on us. Its duration and severity, the extent of the adverse health impact on the general population and governmental measures
implemented to prevent its spread and cushion the economic impact on consumers, are among the unknowns. These, among other
items, will likely impact the economy, the unemployment rate and our operations and could materially affect our future consolidated
results of operations and overall performance.

Beginning in March 2020, our hotel segment experienced a material decrease in occupancy. The conditions caused by COVID-19 have

had a material impact on the performance of our hotel assets for the three months ended September 30, 2020. We expect that
guarantines and travel restrictions may cause our hotel properties to continue operate at reduced occupancy.
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The COVID-19 pandemic caused significant market pricing and liquidity dislocation in March 2020, causing a broad-based market
decline across securities. This had a significant impact on our investmentsin real estate-related securities. Va ues have since rebounded
and the markets have stabilized as aresult of the Federal government’ sinjection of liquidity into the monetary system. See “—Results
of Operations — Income (Loss) from Real Estate-Related Securities, Net.”

For additional discussion with respect to the potential impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our NAV and liquidity and capital
resources see “—Impact of COVID-19 on Our NAV” and “—L.iquidity and Capital Resources’ below.

Please refer to Item 1A. Risk Factorsin our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019, aswell as Part |1,
Item 1A. “Risk Factors’ elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for additional disclosure relating to material trends or
uncertainties that may impact our business.

Q32020 Highlights
Operating Results:

. Raised $158.7 million and $667.5 million of proceeds in the Offering during the three and nine months ended September
30, 2020, respectively.

. Declared monthly net distributions totaling $21.1 million and $56.8 million for the three and nine months ended September
30, 2020, respectively. Asof September 30, 2020, the annualized net distribution rate was 5.0% for Class S, 5.0% for
Class T, 5.6% for Class D and 5.8% for Class | shares.

. Y ear-to-date total return through September 30, 2020, excluding upfront selling commissions, was 2.7% for Class S, 2.9%
for Class T, 3.2% for Class D and 3.3% for Class | shares. Total return is calculated as the change in NAV per share during
the respective periods, assuming any distributions are reinvested in accordance with our distribution reinvestment plan.
Management believes total return is a useful measure of the overall investment performance of our shares.

. Inception through September 30, 2020 annualized total return, excluding upfront selling commissions and dealer manager
fees, was 8.7% for Class S, 8.3% for Class T, 9.0% for Class D and 9.4% for Class | shares. Inception-to-date annualized
total return assuming full upfront selling commissions and dealer manager fees, was 6.6% for Class S, 6.3% for Class T
and 8.1% for Class D shares.

Investments:

. In July 2020 and August 2020, we closed on a three-property affordable housing portfolio in Florida that was a follow-on
to the larger Southeast Affordable Housing Portfolio we aready own. The purchase price was $107.2 million and is
comprised of 904 apartment units that were 97% occupied at closing.

. In August 2020, we acquired afee-simpleinterest in amultifamily property in Atlanta, GA (“ The Baxter Decatur”) for
$82.0 million, excluding closing costs. The Baxter Decatur has 290 units that were 89% occupied at closing.

. In September 2020, we acquired afee-simple interest in a 398,000 square foot light industrial park in Nashville, Tennessee
(the “Airport Logistics Park”) for $62.3 million, excluding closing costs. The Airport Logistics Park is comprised of six
buildings. The Airport Logistics Park had an occupancy of 100% at closing.

. Subsequent to September 30, 2020, we closed on three investments for atotal purchase price of $809.0 million including: a
portfolio of 3,660 affordable housing units located primarily in Virginiaand North Carolina, a 4-asset industrial portfolio
comprised of 1.3 million square feet of Class A propertiesin the Baltimore-Washington CM SA and 958 affordable housing
units located in Jacksonville, Florida.

Financings:
. During the three months ended September 30, 2020, we closed an aggregate of $166.9 million in property-level financing.
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Portfolio

Summary of Portfolio

The following chart outlines the percentage of our assets across investmentsin real properties, investmentsin real estate-related
securities and cash and cash equivalents based on AUM as of September 30, 2020:

Asset Allocation

B Real Estate M Securities ™ Cash

The following charts further describe the composition of our assets across investmentsin real properties, investmentsin real estate-
related securities and cash and cash equivalents and by geography based on AUM as of September 30, 2020:

Asset Type Geography
5% 4%
5%
5% . .
B Multifamily B Office B Industrial
® Hotel B Medical Office ™ Securities mEast M South ™ Midwest m West
B Cash
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Investment in Real Estate

As of September 30, 2020, we had acquired 105 investmentsin real estate and one investment in an unconsolidated real estate joint
venture with an aggregate purchase price of approximately $3.8 billion, excluding closing costs and related working capital. The
following table provides a summary of our portfolio as of September 30, 2020 ($ in thousands):

Sq. Feet (in millions) Per centage of

Number of / Number of Occupancy Segment Segment
Segment Properties Units/Keys Rate® Gross Asset Value® Revenue Revenue
Multifamily 41 10,036 units 94% $ 1,856,330 $ 89,042 43%
Hotel 9 1,293 keys 56% 210,665 17,225 8%
Industrial 39 4.47 . ft 98% 398,897 20,415 10%
Office 14 2.86 q. ft. 93% 1,208,307 68,880 34%
Medical office S 0.39 &0. ft. 91% 205,900 9,860 5%
Total 106 $ 3,880,009 $ 205,422 100%

(@ The occupancy rate for our industrial, office and medical office investments is defined as all |eased square footage divided by the
total available square footage as of September 30, 2020. The occupancy rate for our multifamily investmentsis defined as the
number of leased units divided by the total unit count as of September 30, 2020. The occupancy rate for our hotel investmentsis

based on the trailing twelve month average occupancy for the period ended September 30, 2020.

@ Based on fair value as of September 30, 2020.

Real Estate

The following table provides information regarding our portfolio of real estate properties as of September 30, 2020:

Sq. Feet
Purchase (in millions)

Number of Acquisition Ownership Price / Number of
Segment and | nvestment Properties L ocation Date Interest®@  (in millions)®  UnitsKeys  Occupancy®
Multifamily:
Florida Multifamily Portfolio 4 Jacksonville/Naples, FL January 2019 100%  $ 99.6 1,150 98%
Phoenix Property 1 Mesa, AZ January 2019 100% 458 256 95%
Savannah Property 1 Savannah, GA January 2019 100% 36.2 203 95%
Concord Park Apartments 1 Fort Meade, MD July 2019 100% 86.7 335 94%
Columbus Multifamily 4 Columbus, OH September/October 2019 96% 201.7 1,012 93%
Cascades Apartments 1 Charlotte, NC October 2019 100% 109.6 570 96%
Thornton Apartments 1 Alexandria, VA October 2019 100% 180.2 439 95%
Exchange on Erwin 1 Durham, NC November 2019 100% 74.5 265 92%
The Griffin 1 Scottsdale, AZ December 2019 100% 96.2 277 96%
Avida Apartments 1 Salt Lake City, UT December 2019 100% 86.7 400 91%
Southeast Affordable Housing Portfolio 21 Various Various 100% 568.1 4,240 95%
Highlands Portfolio 3 Columbus, OH June 2020 96% 102.0 599 85%
The Baxter Decatur 1 Atlanta, GA August 2020 100% 82.0 290 88%
Total Multifamily 41 1,769.3 10,036
Hotel:
U.S. Select Service Portfolio 8 FL, CO, TN, OH, AR January 2019 100% 229.0 1,057 55%
Fort Lauderdale Hotel ¥ 1 Fort Lauderdale, FL March 2019 43% 12.3 236 54%
Total Hotel 9 2413 1,293
Office:
Florida Office Portfolio 11 Jacksonville, FL May 2019 97% 231.0 1.27 91%
Columbus Office Portfolio 1 Columbus, OH October 2019 96% 733 0.32 98%
Nashville Office 1 Nashville, TN February 2020 100% 264.1 0.36 100%
60 State Street 1 Boston, MA March 2020 100% 614.3 0.91 91%
Total Office 14 1,182.7 2.86
Industrial:
Midwest Industrial Portfolio 33 IL, IN, OH, WI November 2019 95% 319.6 4.07 98%
Airport Logistics Park 6 Nashville, TN September 2020 100% 62.3 0.40 100%
Total Industrial 39 381.9 4.47
Medical Office:
Exchange on Erwin - Commercial 2 Durham, NC November 2019 100% 36.7 0.10 94%
Barlow 1 Chevy Chase, MD March 2020 100% 160.0 0.29 90%
Total Medical Office 8 196.7 0.39
Total Investment Properties 106 $ 37719




(O Certain of the joint venture agreements entered into by us provide the seller or the other partner a profits interest based on certain
internal rate of return hurdles being achieved. Such investments are consolidated by us and any profits interest due to the other
partner will be reported within Net (income) loss attributable to non-controlling interests in consolidated joint ventures. The table
also includes a property owned by an unconsolidated entity.

@ Purchase price excludes acquisition costs and acquired working capital of $30.5 million.

@  The occupancy rate for our industrial, office and medical office investments is defined as all |eased square footage divided by the
total available square footage as of September 30, 2020. The occupancy rate for our multifamily investmentsis defined as the
number of leased units divided by the total unit count as of September 30, 2020. The occupancy rate for our hotel investmentsis
based on the trailing twelve month average occupancy for the period ended September 30, 2020.

@ Purchase price represents our initial equity investment into the joint venture.

Impact of COVID-19 — Impairment Analysis

As of September 30, 2020, we had not recorded an impairment on any investmentsin our real estate portfolio. Despite revisionsto
future cash flows as aresult of the anticipated impacts of COVID-19, as of September 30, 2020, the undiscounted cash flows of each of
our real estate investments exceeded their carrying value. Certain investments within our portfolio, specifically our hotel assets, are
more susceptible to future impairment considerations due to uncertainty around future cash flows. This uncertainty is aresult of the
significant declines in occupancy and rates from reduced travel and group business, as well as the uncertainty around the length of time
needed for these assets to return to stabilization. Due to the rapidly evolving environment, we will continue to evaluate our cash flow
assumptions. Continued negative impacts of COVID-19 could result in impairments to certain of our investments in future periods.

Investments in Real Estate-Related Securities
The following table details our investmentsin real estate-related securities as of September 30, 2020 ($ in thousands):

Number of Weighted Average Weighted Average
Instrument Positions Coupon @ Maturity Date @ Cost Basis Fair Value
RMBS 57 3.27% June 6, 2046 $ 228263 $ 225,295
CMBS 1 5.76% July 25, 2039 3,446 3,229
58 $ 231,709 $ 228,524

@ Asof September 30, 2020, our RMBS investments had floating rate coupons ranging from 0.00% to 7.95% and our CMBS
investment had floating rate coupon of 5.76%.
@ Weighted average maturity date is based on the fully extended maturity date of the underlying collateral.

The following chart describes the diversification of our real estate-related securities by type based on fair value as of September 30,
2020:

Security Type

1%

B RMBS ® CMBS
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As of September 30, 2020, approximately 5% of our overall portfolio isinvested in real estate-related securities which provides us with
additional liquidity for our share repurchase plan. RMBS are mortgage pass-through certificates or collateralized mortgage obligations
representing interests in or obligations backed by pools of residential mortgage loans.

Lease Expirations

The following table details the expiring leases at our industrial, office and medical office properties by annualized base rent as of
September 30, 2020 ($ in thousands). The table below excludes our hotel properties and multifamily properties as substantially all
leases at such properties expire within 12 months:

Industrial Office Medical Office Total
% of Total % of Total % of Total % of Total
Annualized Annualized Base Annualized Annualized Base Annualized Annualized Base Annualized Annualized Base

Year Base Rent @ Rent Expiring Base Rent @ Rent Expiring Base Rent @ Rent Expiring Base Rent @ Rent Expiring
2020
(remaining) $ — 0% $ 399 0% $ 578 1% $ 977 1%
2021 2,006 2% 4,308 3% 1,555 1% 7,869 6%
2022 2,914 2% 10,276 9% 1,701 1% 14,891 12%
2023 4,385 3% 8,270 % 2,259 2% 14,914 12%
2024 2,997 2% 7,258 6% 2,478 2% 12,733 10%
2025 3,226 3% 5,570 4% 768 1% 9,564 8%
2026 1,752 1% 12,615 10% 1,157 1% 15,524 12%
2027 1,230 1% 5,167 4% 1,298 1% 7,695 6%
2028 — 0% 6,567 5% 324 0% 6,891 5%
2029 871 1% 3,106 2% 879 1% 4,856 4%
Thereafter 4,425 4% 24,307 19% 1,712 1% 30,444 24%
Total $ 23,806 19% $ 87,843 69% $ 14,709 12% $ 126,358 100%

@ Annualized base rent is determined from the annualized base rent per leased square foot of the applicable year and excludes tenant
recoveries, straight-line rent and above-market and bel ow-market |ease amortization.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth information regarding our consolidated results of operations ($ in thousands):

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,

2020 2019 2020 2019
Revenues
Rental revenue $ 71,896 $ 13184 $ 186,688 $ 25,154
Hotel revenue 4,420 10,238 17,134 31,380
Other revenue 604 604 1,600 1,650
Total revenues 76,920 24,026 205,422 58,184
Expenses
Rental property operating 25,915 4,724 64,873 9,219
Hotel operating 3,589 6,131 12,294 17,670
Genera and administrative 2,023 1,076 6,163 2,877
Management fees 5,018 1,713 13,560 2,793
Performance participation allocation — 2,286 46 5,501
Depreciation and amortization 38,543 8,444 107,993 20,852
Total expenses 75,088 24,374 204,929 58,912
Other income (expense)
L oss from unconsolidated real estate ventures (666) (233) (887) (46)
Income (loss) from real estate-related securities, net 11,068 3,323 (27) 6,868
Interest expense (22,539) (6,153) (65,448) (15,625)
Other (expense) income, net (192) 335 (29) 389
Total other expense (12,329) (2,728) (66,391) (8,414)
Net loss $ (10,497) $ (3,076) $ (65,898) $ (9,242)
Net loss attributable to non-controlling interestsin
consolidated joint ventures $ 139 % 25 % 1186 $ 43
Net loss attributable to non-controlling interestsin Operating
Partner ship 43 — 458 —
Net loss attributable to stockholders $ (10,315) $ (3,051) $ (64,254) $ (9,099)

Total Revenues

During the three months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, total revenues were $76.9 million and $24.0 million, respectively.
During the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, total revenues were $205.4 million and $58.2 million, respectively.

Rental revenue primarily consists of base rent arising from tenant leases at our multifamily, industrial, office and medical office
properties. Rental revenueis recognized on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease, including any rent steps or abatement
provisions. During the three months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, rental revenue was $71.9 million and $13.2 million,
respectively. During the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, rental revenue was $186.7 million and $25.2 million,
respectively. The increase is driven by the growth in our portfolio, which increased from 19 properties as of September 30, 2019 to 97
properties as of September 30, 2020.

Whileit isdifficult to predict the future impact of COVID-19, our rent collections to date have not changed materially. As of October
15, 2020, we had collected 97% of our September 2020 rental income, which is consistent with pre-pandemic levels. To date we have
received very few requests from our tenants seeking concessions.

Hotel revenue consists of income from our hotel properties. Hotel revenue consists primarily of room revenue. During the three
months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, hotel revenue was $4.4 million and $10.2 million, respectively. During the nine months
ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, hotel revenue was $17.1 million and $31.4 million, respectively. Beginning in March 2020, our
hotel segment experienced a material decrease in occupancy arising from the conditions caused by COVID-19. As aresult of
unprecedented travel declines and stay at home orders due to COVID-19, our hotel occupancies declined from approximately 83% in
February 2020 to approximately 55% in September 2020.
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During the three months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, cther revenue was $0.6 million and $0.6 million, respectively. During
the three months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, other revenue primarily consists of deferred income of $0.2 million and $0.5
million, respectively, associated with the discharge of certain housing development loans. During the nine months ended September 30,
2020 and 2019, other revenue was $1.6 million and $1.7 million, respectively. During the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and
2019, other revenue primarily consists of deferred income of $0.6 million and $1.4 million, respectively, associated with the discharge
of certain housing development |oans.

See Note 2 —“ Summary of Significant Accounting Policies’ to our consolidated financial statementsin this Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q for further details on the accounting treatment of deferred income.

Rental Property Operating and Hotel Operating Expenses

Rental property operating and hotel operating expenses consist of the costs of ownership and operation of the real estate investments.
Examples of rental property operating and hotel operating expenses include real estate taxes, insurance, utilities and repair and
maintenance expenses. Rental property operating and hotel operating expenses also include general and administrative expenses
unrelated to the operations of the properties. During the three months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, rental property operating
and hotel operating expenses were $29.5 million and $10.9 million, respectively. During the nine months ended September 30, 2020
and 2019, rental property operating and hotel operating expenses were $77.2 million and $26.9 million, respectively. Theincreaseis
driven by the growth in our portfolio, which increased from 28 properties as of September 30, 2019 to 106 properties as of September
30, 2020.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses are corporate-level expenses that relate mainly to our compliance and administration costs and
consist primarily of legal fees, accounting fees, transfer agent fees and other professional fees. During the three months ended
September 30, 2020 and 2019, general and administrative expenses were $2.0 million and $1.1 million, respectively. During the nine
months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, general and administrative expenses were $6.2 million and $2.9 million, respectively. The
variance is due to increased corporate-level expenses related to the increased size of our portfolio.

Management Fees

Management fees are earned by our Advisor for providing services pursuant to the Advisory Agreement. The Advisor waived the
management fee for the period January 1, 2019 through March 31, 2019 and we began accruing the management fee beginning April 1,
2019. During the three months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, management fees were $5.0 million and $1.7 million, respectively.
During the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, management fees were $13.6 million and $2.8 million, respectively. The
increase was primarily due to the growth in our NAV which increased $1.0 billion from September 30, 2019 to September 30, 2020.

Performance Participation Allocation

Performance participation alocation relates to alocations from the Operating Partnership to the Special Limited Partner based on the
total return of the Operating Partnership. Total return is defined as distributions paid or accrued plusthe changein NAV. The
performance participation allocation is measured annually and any amount earned by the Special Limited Partner becomes payable as
of December 31 of the applicable year. During the three months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, the performance participation
allocation was $0.0 million and $2.3 million, respectively. During the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, the
performance participation allocation was $46,000 and $5.5 million, respectively. The decreases are driven by alower total return for
the three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2020 compared to the same time periodsin 2019.

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization expenses are impacted by the values assigned to buildings, personal property and in-place |ease assets as
part of the initial purchase price allocation. During the three months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, depreciation and
amortization expenses were $38.5 million and $8.4 million, respectively. During the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019,
depreciation and amortization expenses were $108.0 million and $20.9 million, respectively. The increase is driven by the growth in
our portfolio, which increased from 27 consolidated properties as of September 30, 2019 to 105 consolidated properties as of
September 30, 2020.
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Income (Loss) from Real Estate-Related Securities, Net

During the three months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, income from real estate-related securities, net was $11.1 million and
$3.3 million, respectively, which consisted of the interest income, unrealized gaing/(losses), and realized gaing/(losses) on our
investments in real estate-related securities. During the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, (loss) income from real
estate-related securities, net was $27,000 and $6.9 million, respectively.

The spread of COVID-19 during the nine months ended September 30, 2020, led to extreme market volatility and dislocations in the
financial markets, which havein turn caused significant yield spread widening on most fixed income assets, volatility in interest rates
and asevere drop in liquidity across virtually all asset classes. The market volatility led to a decrease in unrealized losses during the
three months ended September 30, 2020 but an increase in unrealized |osses during the nine months ended September 30, 2020 in our
real estate-related securities portfolio.

Interest Expense

During the three months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, interest expense was $22.5 million and $6.2 million, respectively, which
primarily consisted of interest expense incurred on our mortgage notes, revolving credit facility and borrowings under our repurchase
agreements. During the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, interest expense was $65.4 million and $15.6 million,
respectively. The increase was primarily due to the growth in our portfolio of real estate and real estate-related securities and the related
indebtedness on such investments.

The September 30, 2020 balance al so includes unrealized losses of $9.4 million relating to the fair value of the Company’s interest rate
swaps and interest rate caps. The interest rate caps are used primarily to limit our interest rate payments on certain of our variable rate
borrowings.

Theinterest rate swaps are used to introduce more certainty around cash flows and protects the cash available for distribution after debt
service.

Funds from Operations and Adjusted Funds from Operations

We believe funds from operations (“FFQ") is a meaningful supplemental non-GAAP operating metric. Our consolidated financial
statements are presented under historical cost accounting which, among other things, requires depreciation of real estate investmentsto
be calculated on a straight-line basis. As aresult, our operating resultsimply that the value of our real estate investments will decrease
evenly over a set time period. However, we believe that the value of real estate investments will change over time based on market
conditions and as such, depreciation under historical cost accounting may be less informative. FFO is a standard REIT industry metric
defined by the National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts (“NAREIT").

FFO, as defined by NAREIT and presented below, is calculated as net income or loss (computed in accordance with GAAP), excluding
gains or losses from sales of depreciable real property and impairment write-downs on depreciable real property, plusreal estate-related
depreciation and amortization, and similar adjustments for unconsolidated joint ventures.

We also believe that adjusted FFO (“ AFFQO”) is a meaningful supplemental non-GAAP disclosure of our operating results. AFFO
further adjusts FFO in order for our operating results to reflect the specific characteristics of our business by adjusting for items we
believe are not related to our core operations. Our adjustments to FFO to arrive at AFFO include straight-line rental income,
amortization of above- and below-market lease intangibles, unrealized gains or losses from changes in the fair value of real estate—
related securities and other financial instruments, amortization of restricted stock awards, performance participation allocation not
payablein cash, even if units previously issued by the Company to settle the payable are repurchased by us and similar adjustments for
non-controlling interests. AFFO is not defined by NAREIT and our calculation of AFFO may not be comparable to disclosures made
by other REITs.
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The following table presents areconciliation of FFO and AFFO to GAAP net loss attributable to stockholders ($ in thousands):

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,

2020 2019 2020 2019
Net loss attributable to stockholders $ (10,315) $ (3051) $ (64,254) $ (9,099)
Adjustmentsto arrive at FFO:
Real estate depreciation and amortization 38,543 8,444 107,993 20,852
Investment in unconsolidated real estate ventures —
depreciation and amortization 187 197 553 420
Amount attributable to non-controlling interests for above
adjustments (507) — (2,736) —
FFO attributable to stockholders 27,908 5,590 41,556 12,173
Adjustmentsto arrive at AFFO:
Straight-line rental income (2,962) (403) (6,149) (556)
Amortization of above- and below-market |ease intangibles,
net 44 26 59 39
Unrealized (gains) losses from changes in the fair value of
real estate-related securities and other financia
instruments (7,689) 127 13,803 821
Non-cash performance participation allocation — 2,286 46 5,501
Amortization of deferred financing costs 1,262 247 2,303 592
Amortization of restricted stock awards 38 — 80 50
Amount attributable to non-controlling interests for above
adjustments 100 (18) 273 (24)
AFFO attributable to stockholders $ 18,701 $ 7855 $ 51,971 $ 18,596

FFO and AFFO should not be considered to be more relevant or accurate than the current GAAP methodology in calculating net
income (loss) or in evaluating our operating performance. In addition, FFO and AFFO should not be considered as alternatives to net
income (loss) as indications of our performance or as aternatives to cash flows from operating activities as indications of our liquidity,
but rather should be reviewed in conjunction with these and other GAAP measurements. Further, FFO and AFFO are not intended to be
used as liquidity measures indicative of cash flow available to fund our cash needs, including our ability to make distributions to our
stockholders.

Impact of COVID-19 on our NAV

For the nine months ended September 30, 2020, the decrease in our NAV was principally driven by unrealized mark-to-market declines
across our investmentsin real estate-related securities, as well as reduced valuations of our real estate properties from incorporating our
estimate of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Real Estate Portfolio Valuation

Asaresult of unprecedented travel declines and stay at home orders due to COVID-19, our hotel occupancies declined from
approximately 83% in February 2020 to approximately 55% in September 2020. Decreased current and future cash flows at our
hospitality assets due to reduced occupancy and rates, as well as the forecasted timing for operations to recover to stabilization led to
reduced property values.

In our residential and office segments, the val uations through September 2020 have remained relatively unchanged post COVID-19.
However, future valuations might be negatively impacted depending on the outcomes of various factors such as: additiona shutdowns,
a second wave of COVID-19 infections, and if the Federal government does not provide additional stimulus. These outcomes can
potentially lead to slower forecasted rental growth, reduced occupancies, slower |ease-up, reduced |ease renewals, and/or higher tenant
delinquencies which may result in lower operating cash flows and valuations.

In our industrial segment, the September 2020 valuations of our industrial assets saw a modest increase in their values based on strong
operating performance post COVID-19 and robust investor demand for this asset class.



As of the end of each of March 2020, June 2020 and September 2020, our independent valuation advisor and external third-party
appraisal firms, for select assets, valued the real estate portfolio to reflect the most recent market conditions.

Investmentsin Real Estate-Related Securities

A portion of our portfolio isinvested in marketable securities in order to provide us with liquidity for our share repurchase program. As
of September 30, 2020, the securities alocation was approximately 99% invested in seasoned RMBS and approximately 1% invested in
CMBS. In the middle of March 2020, the capital markets experienced severe volatility as a result of market dislocation. Values have

since rebounded and the markets have stabilized as aresult of the Federal government’ sinjection of liquidity into the monetary system.

Net Asset Value

The purchase price per share for each class of our common stock is the then-current transaction price, which generally equals our prior
month’s NAV per share, as determined monthly, plus applicable selling commissions and dealer manager fees. Our NAV for each class
of sharesis based on the net asset values of our investments (including real estate-related securities), the addition of any other assets
(such as cash on hand) and the deduction of any liahilities, including the allocation/accrual of any performance participation, and any
stockholder servicing fees applicable to such class of shares.

The following table provides a breakdown of the major components of our NAV ($ and shares in thousands):

Components of NAV September 30, 2020
Investmentsin real properties $ 3,880,099
Investmentsin real estate-related securities 228,524
Cash and cash equivalents 132,341
Restricted cash 126,157
Other assets 48,562
Debt obligations (2,584,905)
Subscriptions received in advance (88,402)
Other liabilities (71,533)
Performance participation accrual (46)
Management fee payable (1,736)
Accrued stockholder servicing feest (652)
Minority interest (15,022)
Net Asset Value $ 1,653,387
Number of outstanding shares 77,415

@ Stockholder servicing fees only apply to Class T, Class S, and Class D shares. Under GAAP, we accrue the full cost of the
stockholder servicing fee as an offering cost at thetimewe sell Class T, Class Sand Class D shares.  As of September 30, 2020,
we have accrued under GAAP $65.3 million of stockholder servicing fees payable to the Dealer Manager related to the Class T,
Class Sand Class D shares sold.

The following table provides a breakdown of our total NAV and NAV per share by share class as of September 30, 2020:

Third-party
Operating
ClassT Class S ClassD Class| Partner ship
NAV Per Share Shares Shares Shares Shares Units @ Total
Net asset value $ 48,246,917 $874,910,650 $ 53,034,260 $666,943,124 $ 10,252,106 $1,653,387,057
Number of outstanding shares 2,270,733 40,910,827 2,491,810 31,261,064 480,539 77,414,973
NAV per share as of
September 30, 2020 $ 2125 $ 21.39 $ 2128 $ 2133 % 21.33

@ Includes the units of the Operating Partnership held by the Special Limited Partner.
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Set forth below are the weighted averages of the key assumptions in the discounted cash flow methodology used in the September 30,
2020 valuations, based on property types.

Property Type Discount Rate Exit Capitalization Rate
Multifamily 6.4% 5.2%
Hotel 9.2% 7.8%
Office 7.4% 6.0%
Industrial 7.0% 5.9%
Medical Office 6.6% 5.7%

These assumptions are determined by the Advisor and reviewed by our independent valuation advisor. A change in these assumptions
would impact the calculation of the value of our property investments. For example, assuming all other factors remain unchanged, the
changes listed below would result in the following effects on our investment values:

Hypothetical Multifamily I nvestment Hotel Investment Office Investment Industrial Investment Officgler?\;gmmt
Input Change Values Values Values Values Values
Discount Rate 0.25% decrease 1.9% 1.8% 1.9% 1.7% 2.0%
(weighted average) 0.25% increase (1.9% (2.8)% (2.9% Q.7% (1.9%
Exit Capitalization Rate 0.25% decrease 3.1% 1.8% 2.9% 2.7% 3.1%
(weighted average) 0.25% increase (2.8)% (1.7)% (2.6)% (2.5)% (2.8)%
The following table reconciles stockholders’ equity per our Consolidated Balance Sheet to our NAV ($ in thousands):
Reconciliation of Stockholders' Equity to NAV September 30, 2020
Stockholders' equity under U.S. GAAP $ 1,366,098
Redeemable non-controlling interest 10,252
Total partners' capital of Operating Partnership 1,376,350
Adjustments:
Accrued stockholder servicing fee 64,696
Advanced organization and offering costs and Advanced operating expenses 6,425
Unrealized real estate appreciation 64,183
Accumulated depreciation and amortization 141,733
NAV $ 1,653,387

The following details the adjustments to reconcile GAAP stockholders' equity to our NAV:

. Accrued stockholder servicing fee represents the accrual for the full cost of the stockholder servicing fee for Class T, Class
Sand Class D shares. Under GAAP we accrued the full cost of the stockholder servicing fee payable over the life of each
share (assuming such share remains outstanding the length of time required to pay the maximum stockholder servicing fee)
as an offering cost at the time we sold the Class T, Class S and Class D shares. Refer to Note 2 — * Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies’ to our consolidated financia statementsin this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for further details of
the GAAP treatment regarding the stockholder servicing fee. For purposes of NAV, we recognize the stockhol der
servicing fee as areduction of NAV on amonthly basis as such feeis paid.

. The Advisor advanced organization and offering costs (other than upfront selling commissions, dealer manager fees and
stockholder servicing fees) on our behalf through December 21, 2019. Such costs are reimbursed to the Advisor pro rata
over 60 months following December 21, 2019. Under GAAP, organization costs are expensed as incurred and offering
costs are charged to equity as such amounts are incurred. For NAV, such costs are recognized as areduction to NAV as
they are reimbursed ratably over 60 months.

. Our investmentsin real estate are presented under historical cost in our GAAP consolidated financial statements.
Additionally, our mortgage notes and repurchase agreements (“ Debt”) are presented at their carrying value in our
consolidated financial statements. As such, any changesin the fair value of our Debt are not included in our GAAP
results. For purposes of determining our NAV, our investmentsin real estate and our Debt are recorded at fair value.

. We depreciate our investmentsin real estate and amortize certain other assets and liabilities in accordance with GAAP.
Such depreciation and amortization is not recorded for purposes of determining our NAV.
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Distributions

Since February 2019, we have declared monthly distributions for each class of our common stock, which are generally paid three days
after month-end. Each class of our common stock received the same gross distribution per share, which was $0.9315 per share for the
nine months ended September 30, 2020. The net distribution varies for each class based on the applicable stockholder servicing fee,
which is deducted from the gross distribution per share and paid to the dealer manager. The table below details the net distribution for
each of our share classes for the nine months ended September 30, 2020:

ClassT ClassS ClassD Class|

Shares Shares Shares Shares
January 31, 2020 $ 0.0881 $ 0.0879 $ 0.0989 $ 0.1035
February 29, 2020 0.0890 0.0889 0.0993 0.1035
March 31, 2020 0.0880 0.0879 0.0989 0.1035
April 30, 2020 0.0888 0.0887 0.0992 0.1035
May 31, 2020 0.0883 0.0882 0.0990 0.1035
June 30, 2020 0.0887 0.0888 0.0992 0.1035
July 31, 2020 0.0881 0.0882 0.0990 0.1035
August 31, 2020 0.0881 0.0882 0.0990 0.1035
September 30, 2020 0.0887 0.0886 0.0991 0.1035
Totals $ 07958 $ 07954 $ 08916 $ 0.9315

The following table summarizes our distributions declared during the three months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019 ($in
thousands):

Three Months Ended Three Months Ended
September 30, 2020 September 30, 2019
Amount Per centage Amount Per centage
Distributions
Payable in cash $ 10,332 9% $ 3,152 44%
Reinvested in shares 10,769 51% 3,955 56%
Total distributions $ 21,101 100% $ 7,107 100%
Sour ces of Distributions
Cash flows from operating activities $ 21,101 100% $ 7,107 100%
Offering proceeds — 0% — 0%
Total sources of distributions $ 21,101 100% $ 7,107 100%
Cash flows from operating activities $ 28,840 $ 10,364
Funds from operations $ 27,908 $ 5,590



The following table summarizes our distributions declared during the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019 ($in
thousands):

Nine Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2020 September 30, 2019
Amount Per centage Amount Per centage
Distributions
Payablein cash $ 26,013 46% $ 5,680 43%
Reinvested in shares 30,756 54% 7,462 57%
Total distributions $ 56,769 100% $ 13,142 100%
Sour ces of Distributions
Cash flows from operating activities $ 56,769 100% $ 13,142 100%
Offering proceeds — 0% — 0%
Total sources of distributions $ 56,769 100% $ 13,142 100%
Cash flows from operating activities $ 78,770 $ 29,159
Funds from operations $ 41,556 $ 12,173

Liquidity and Capital Resources

While the long-term impact of COVID-19 to our businessis not yet known, we believe we are well positioned from aliquidity
perspective with $159.5 million of immediate liquidity as of September 30, 2020, made up of $27.2 million of undrawn line of credit
capacity and $132.3 million of cash on hand. In addition, the Company holds a $114.1 million net position in real estate-related
securities that could be liquidated to satisfy any potential liquidity requirements.

Our primary needs for liquidity and capital resources are to fund our investments, to make distributions to our stockholders, to
repurchase shares of our common stock pursuant to our share repurchase plan, to pay our offering and operating fees and expenses, to
pay interest on our outstanding indebtedness and margin calls, if required, under our repurchase agreements. Our operating expenses
include, among other things, the management fee we pay to the Advisor (to the extent the Advisor elects to receive the management fee
in cash), the performance participation allocation that the Operating Partnership pays to the Specia Limited Partner (to the extent that
the Advisor electsto receive the performance participation in cash), general corporate expenses and fees related to acquiring, financing,
appraising and managing our properties. We do not have any office or personnel expenses as we do not have any employees.

Our cash needs for acquisitions and other investments will be funded primarily from the sale of shares of our common stock and
through the assumption or incurrence of debt. Subsequent to March 31, 2020, we have experienced a decline in net proceeds received
from our Offering as compared to pre-COVID-19 levels. The sale of shares of our common stock have improved since reaching a
trough in April 2020. For the nine months ended September 30, 2020, we raised $667.5 million of proceeds in the Offering. In addition,
for the nine months ended September 30, 2020, we have honored $28.9 million of repurchase requests under our share repurchase plan.

We continue to believe that our current liquidity position is sufficient to meet our expected investment activity. Other potential future
sources of capital include secured or unsecured financings from banks or other lenders and proceeds from the sale of assets. If
necessary, we may use financings or other sources of capital in the event of unforeseen significant capital expenditures. From inception
through September 30, 2020, our distributions have been entirely funded from cash flow from operating activities.



The following table is asummary of our indebtedness as of September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019 ($ in thousands):

Principal Balance Outstanding @

Maximum
Weighted Average Weighted Average Facility
Indebtedness Interest Rate® Maturity Date® Size September 30, 2020 December 31, 2019
Fixed rate loans
Fixed rate mortgages 2.69% 9/26/2029 NA $ 1543340 $ 1,004,423
Total fixed rate loans 1,543,340 1,004,423
Variablerate loans
Floating rate mortgages L +1.75% 3/1/2025 N/A 779,097 240,599
Variable rate revolving credit facility ® L +2.00% 10/21/2021  $ 200,000 172,800 —
Total variable rate loans 951,897 240,599
Total loans secured by the Company's
properties 2,495,237 1,245,022
Deferred financing costs, net (13,033) (7,136)
Premium on assumed debt, net 268 216
M ortgage notes and revolving credit
facility, net $ 2482472 $ 1,238,102

@O  Theterm “L” refersto the one-month LIBOR. As of September 30, 2020, one-month LIBOR was equal to 0.15%.

@  For loans where the Company, at its own discretion, has extension options, the maximum maturity date has been assumed.

©®  The mgjority of our mortgages contain yield or spread maintenance provisions.

@ Our revolving credit facility is used as bridge financing and can be drawn upon to fund the acquisition of future real estate
investments.

Subsequent to September 30, 2020, we raised $170.7 million in the Offering and received approximately $4.1 million of investor

requests to repurchase their shares, which totaled approximately 0.25% of our NAV. All repurchase requests were met from cash on
hand.

Cash Flows
The following table provides a breakdown of the net change in our cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash ($ in thousands):

Nine M onths Ended September 30,

2020 2019

Cash flows provided by operating activities $ 78770 % 29,159
Cash flows used in investing activities (1,866,638) (858,428)
Cash flows provided by financing activities 1,857,406 815,165
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash  $ 69,538 $ (14,104)

Cash flows provided by operating activities increased $49.6 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2020 compared to the
corresponding period in 2019. Thisincrease resulted from the operations of the investmentsin real estate and income on our
investmentsin real estate-related securities.

Cash flows used in investing activities increased $1,008.2 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2020 compared to the
corresponding period in 2019 primarily due to an increase in acquisitions of $1,306.4 million of real estate investments offset by
$(307.0) million lower net acquisitions of real estate-related securities.

Cash flows provided by financing activities increased $1,042.2 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2020 compared to
the corresponding period in 2019 primarily due to a net increase of $970.6 million in borrowings, $104.9 million in proceeds from the
issuance of our common stock, $(1.0) million of net repayments under repurchase agreements and $(20.4) million in distributions.
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Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of the financial statements in accordance with GAAP involve significant judgments and assumptions and require
estimates about matters that are inherently uncertain. These judgments will affect our reported amounts of assets and liabilities and our
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses
during the reporting periods. With different estimates or assumptions, materially different amounts could be reported in our financial
statements. We consider our accounting policies over investmentsin real estate and lease intangibles, investmentsin securities, and
revenue recognition to be our critical accounting policies. Refer to Note 2 — “ Summary of Significant Accounting Policies’ to our
consolidated financial statementsin this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for further descriptions of such accounting policies.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 2 — “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies’ to our consolidated financial statements in this Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q for adiscussion concerning recent accounting pronouncements.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We currently have no off-balance sheet arrangements that are reasonably likely to have a materia current or future effect on our
financial condition, changesin financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital
resources.

Contractual Obligations

The following table aggregates our contractual obligations and commitments with payments due subsequent to September 30, 2020 ($
in thousands):

Lessthan Morethan
Obligations Total 1year 1-3years 3-5years 5years
I ndebtedness $ 3,060,702 $ 79,286 $ 370580 $ 850,674 $ 1,760,162
Ground lease 18,450 399 798 798 16,455
Organizational and offering costs 6,197 1,458 2,916 1,823 —
Advanced operating expenses 121 28 57 36 —
Total $ 3085470 $ 81,171 $ 374351 $ 853331 $ 1,776,617

@ The alocation of our indebtedness includes both principal and interest payments based on the maximum maturity date where we,
at our own discretion, have extension options and interest rates in effect at September 30, 2020.

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
Capital Market Risk

We are exposed to risks related to the equity capital markets and our related ability to raise capital through the issuance of our common
stock. We are also exposed to risks related to the debt capital markets, and our related ability to finance our business through
borrowings under mortgages, repurchase obligations or other debt instruments. Asa REIT, we are required to distribute a significant
portion of our taxable income annually, which constrains our ability to accumulate operating cash flow and therefore requires usto
utilize debt or equity capital to finance our business.

The COVID-19 pandemic has also resulted in extreme volatility in avariety of global markets, including the real estate related debt
markets. We have received and may in the future receive margin calls from our lenders as aresult of the decline in the market value of
assets pledged by us to our lenders under our repurchase agreements, and if we fail to resolve such margin calls when due by payment
of cash or delivery of additional collateral, the lenders may exercise remedies including taking ownership of the assets securing the
applicable obligations.

Credit Risk

The performance and value of our investments depend upon our ability to operate the properties so that they produce sufficient cash
flows. The COVID-19 pandemic has significantly impacted the commercial real estate markets, causing requests from tenants for rent
deferral or abatement. These negative conditions may persist into the future and impair our tenants' ability to pay rent under various
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lease arrangements.  We maintain arobust asset management relationship with our tenants, and have utilized these relationships to
address the potential impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on our properties.

Limited discussions we have had with our tenants have addressed potential near-term defensive lease modifications, which could
include repurposing of deposits and temporary deferrals of rent.  While no lease modifications of this nature have been closed to date,
our investments are subject to credit risk.

Interest Rate Risk

We are exposed to interest rate risk with respect to our variable-rate mortgage indebtedness, where an increase in interest rates would
directly result in higher interest expense costs. We seek to manage our exposure to interest rate risk by utilizing a mix of fixed and
floating rate financings with staggered maturities and through interest rate protection agreements to fix or cap a portion of our variable
rate debt. As of September 30, 2020, the outstanding principal balance of our variable rate mortgage indebtedness was $951.9 million.

Certain of our mortgage loans and repurchase agreements are variable rate and are indexed to the one-month U.S. dollar denominated
LIBOR. For the nine months ended September 30, 2020, a 10% increase in the one-month U.S. dollar denominated LIBOR would have
resulted in an increase in interest expense of $0.5 million.

Investments in Real Estate-Related Securities

As of September 30, 2020, we held $228.5 million of real estate-related securities. Certain of our investmentsin real estate-related
securities are floating rate and indexed to one-month or three-month U.S. dollar denominated LIBOR and as such, are exposed to
interest raterisk. Our net income will increase or decrease depending on interest rate movements.  While we cannot predict factors
that may or may not affect interest rates, for the nine months ended September 30, 2020, a 10% increase or decrease in the one-month
U.S. dollar denominated LIBOR rate would have resulted in an increase or decrease to income from real estate-related securities and
loans of $0.1 million.

We may also be exposed to market risk with respect to our investmentsin real-estate related securities due to changes in the fair value
of our investments. We seek to manage our exposure to market risk with respect to our investmentsin real estate-related securities by
making investments in securities backed by different types of collateral and varying credit ratings. The fair value of our investments
may fluctuate, thus the amount we will realize upon any sale of our investments is unknown. As of September 30, 2020, the fair value
at which we may sell our investmentsin real estate-related securitiesis not known, but a 10% change in the fair value of our
investmentsin real estate-related securities may result in an unrealized gain or loss of $22.9 million.

LIBOR Transition Risk

In July 2017, the United Kingdom’s Financial Conduct Authority (the authority that regulates LIBOR) announced it intends to stop
compelling banks to submit rates for the calculation of LIBOR after 2021. Thereis currently no certainty regarding the future
utilization of LIBOR or of any particular replacement rate (although the secured overnight financing rate has been proposed as an
alternative to U.S.-dollar LIBOR). Asindicated in the “Interest Rate Risk” section above, a substantial portion of our loans, investment
securities, borrowings and interest rate derivatives are indexed to LIBOR or similar reference rates. Market participants anticipate that
financial instrumentstied to LIBOR will require transition to an alternative reference rate if LIBOR is no longer available. Our LIBOR-
based |oan agreements and borrowing arrangements generally specify aternative reference rates such as the prime rate and federal
fundsrate, respectively. The potentia effect of the discontinuation of LIBOR on our interest income and expense cannot yet be
determined and any changes to benchmark interest rates could increase our financing costs and/or result in mismatches between the
interest rates of our investments and the corresponding financings.
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ITEM 4. CONTROLSAND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

An evauation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our "disclosure controls and procedures' (as defined in Rule 13a-15(€)
under the Exchange Act), as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q was made under the supervision
and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer ("CEO") and Chief Financial Officer ("CFQO").
Based upon this evaluation, our CEO and CFO have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures (a) are effective to ensure
that information required to be disclosed by us in reportsfiled or submitted under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized
and reported within the time periods specified by SEC rules and forms and (b) include, without limitation, controls and procedures
designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by usin reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is accumulated
and communicated to our management, including our CEO and CFO, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure.

Changesin Internal Controls over Financial Reporting

There have been no changesin our "internal control over financial reporting” (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of the Exchange Act) that
occurred during the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. We have not experienced any material impact to our internal control over
financial reporting to date as a result of employees working remotely due to the COVID-19 pandemic. We are continually monitoring
and assessing the COVID-19 pandemic’s effect on our internal controls to minimize the impact to their design and operating
effectiveness.



PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, we may be involved in various claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business. As of September
30, 2020, we were not involved in any material legal proceedings.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Aside from COVID-19 and except as set forth below, there have been no material changes to the risk factors previously disclosed under
Item 1A of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019.

Compliance with the SEC’ s Regulation Best I nterest by participating broker-dealers may negatively impact our ability to raise
capital in our public offering, which would harm our ability to achieve our investment objectives.

Commencing June 30, 2020, broker-dealers must comply with Regulation Best Interest, which, among other requirements, establishes a
new standard of conduct for broker-dealers and their associated persons when making a recommendation of any securities transaction
or investment strategy involving securities to aretail customer. The impact of Regulation Best Interest on participating dealers cannot
be determined at thistime, and it may negatively impact whether participating dealers and their associated persons recommend our
public offering to certain retail customers. If Regulation Best Interest reduces our ability to raise capital in our offering, it would harm
our ability to create adiversified portfolio of investments and ability to achieve our investment objectives.

ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALESOF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS
Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

Except as described below, during the nine months ended September 30, 2020, we did not sell any equity securities that were not
registered under the Securities Act. Asdescribed in Note 10 —“Related Party Transactions’ to our consolidated financial statementsin
this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, the Advisor is entitled to an annual management fee payable monthly in cash, shares of common
stock, or units of the Operating Partnership, in each case at the Advisor's election. For the three months ended September 30, 2020, the
Advisor elected to receive its management feesin Class | shares. We issued 75,545 and 78,556 unregistered Class | shares to the
Advisor in satisfaction of the management fee for July 2020 and August 2020, respectively. Additionally, we issued 81,344
unregistered Class | shares to the Advisor in October 2020 in satisfaction of the September 2020 management fee.  The shares were
issued at the applicable NAV per share at the end of each month for which the fee was earned. Each issuance to the Advisor was made
pursuant to Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act.

Use of Offering Proceeds

On December 27, 2017, our Registration Statement on Form S-11 (File No. 333-220997), covering our Offering of up to $5.0 hillion of
common stock (in any combination of purchases of Class T, Class S, Class D and Class | shares of our common stock), consisting of up
to $4.0 billion in shares in our primary offering and up to $1.0 billion in shares pursuant to our distribution reinvestment plan, was
declared effective under the Securities Act.  The offering price for each class of our common stock is determined monthly and is made
available on our website and in prospectus supplement filings. Starwood Capital, L.L.C., aregistered broker-dealer affiliated with the
Advisor, serves as the dealer manager for the Offering.

The following table presents information about the Offering and use of proceeds therefrom as of September 30, 2020 ($ and number of
shares in thousands):

ClassT Class S ClassD Class|
Shares Shares Shares Shares Total
Offering proceeds:

Shares sold 2,402 41,665 2,562 30,839 77,468
Gross offering proceeds $ 51,182 $ 879637 $ 53558 $ 650,248 $ 1,634,625
Selling commissions and dealer manager fees (995) (8,306) — — (9,301)
Accrued stockholder servicing fees (397) (7,628) (132) — (8,157)
Net offering proceeds $ 49790 $ 863703 $ 53426 $ 650,248 $1,617,167

49



We primarily used the net proceeds from the Offering toward the acquisition of $3.5 billion of real properties and $522.2 million of real
estate-related securities. In addition to the net proceeds from the Offering, we financed our investments with $2.2 billion of financing
secured by our investmentsin real estate and $114.4 million of net repurchase agreements. See Item 2 —“Management’ s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations— Liquidity and Capital Resources’ for additional details on our
borrowings.

Share Repurchase Plan

We have adopted a share repurchase plan, whereby on a monthly basis, stockholders may request that we repurchase al or any portion
of their shares. We may choose to repurchase al, some or none of the shares that have been requested to be repurchased at the end of
any particular month, in our discretion, subject to any limitations in the share repurchase plan.

The total amount of aggregate repurchases of Class T, Class S, Class D, and Class | shares (excluding any early repurchase deduction)
islimited to 2% of the aggregate NAV per month (measured using the aggregate NAV as of the end of the immediately preceding
month) and 5% of the aggregate NAV per calendar quarter (measured using the aggregate NAV as of the end of the immediately
preceding quarter).

Shares are repurchased at a price equal to the transaction price on the applicable repurchase date, subject to any early repurchase
deduction. Shares that have not been outstanding for at least one year would be repurchased at 95% of the transaction price. Due to the
illiquid nature of investmentsin real estate, we may not have sufficient liquid resources to fund repurchase requests and may elect not
to repurchase some or al of the shares submitted for repurchase in a given period. Further, we may make exceptions to, modify,
suspend or terminate the share repurchase plan.

If the transaction price for the applicable month is not made available by the tenth business day prior to the last business day of the
month (or is changed after such date), then no repurchase requests will be accepted for such month and stockholders who wish to have
their shares repurchased the following month must resubmit their repurchase requests.

During the three months ended September 30, 2020, we repurchased shares of our common stock in the following amounts, which
represented all of the share repurchase requests received for the same period.

Total Number of Maximum Number of
Shares Shares Pending
Repurchases as Repurchased Repur chase Pur suant
Total Number a Per centage Average as Part of Publicly to Publicly
of Shares of Shares Price Paid Announced Plans Announced Plans
Month of: Repur chased Outstanding per Share or Programs or Programs®
July 2020 80,876 0.11% $ 21.24 80,876 —
August 2020 74,746 0.10% 21.33 74,746 —
September 2020 134,452 0.17% 21.33 134,452 —
Total 290,074 $ 21.30 290,074 —

(@ Repurchases are limited under the share repurchase plan as described above. Under the share repurchase plan, we would have been
able to repurchase up to an aggregate of $74.1 million of Class S, Class T, Class D and Class | shares based on our June 30, 2020
NAYV in the second quarter of 2020 (if such repurchase requests were made). Pursuant to the share repurchase plan, this amount
resets at the beginning of each quarter.
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The Special Limited Partner holds 480,539 Class | unitsin the Operating Partnership. Any redemption of Class | units held by the
Specia Limited Partner would occur outside of our share repurchase plan.

ITEM 3. DEFAULTSUPON SENIOR SECURITIES
None.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.

ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION
Not applicable.
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ITEM 6. EXHIBITS
Exhibit
Number Description

31 Articles of Amendment and Restatement of Starwood Real Estate Income Trust, Inc. (the “Company”) (filed as Exhibit 3.1
to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 30, 2018 and incorporated herein by reference)

3.2 Articles of Amendment of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on August 12, 2019)

33 Amended & Restated Bylaws of the Company (filed as Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrant’ s Registration Statement on Form S-11
filed on October 18, 2017 and incorporated herein by reference)

31.1*  Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
31.2*  Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1*  Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2¢  Certification of Chief Financia Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

101 The following information from the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2020,
formatted in XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Language): (i) Consolidated Balance Sheets; (ii) Consolidated Statements
of Operations (iii) Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity; and (iv) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

*  Filed herewith

The agreements and other documents filed as exhibits to this report are not intended to provide factual information or other disclosure
other than with respect to the terms of the agreements or other documents themselves, and you should not rely on them for that purpose.
In particular, any representations and warranties made by us in these agreements or other documents were made solely within the
specific context of the relevant agreement or document and may not describe the actual state of affairs as of the date they were made or
at any other time.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

STARWOOD REAL ESTATE INCOME TRUST, INC.

November 10, 2020 /s/ John P. McCarthy, Jr.

Date John P. McCarthy, Jr.
Chief Executive Officer, President and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

November 10, 2020 /s Dave Guiteau

Date Dave Guiteau
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal
Accounting Officer)
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